AGREEMENT

between the

CITY OF NEW BEDFORD

and

AMERICAN FEDERATION
OF
STATE, COUNTY
AND
MUNICIPAL EMPLOYEES
AFL-CIO

STATE COUNCIL 93 LOCAL 851

July 1, 2013 – June 30, 2016

Table of Contents

Article		Page	
Article I	Recognition	1	
Article II	Check-Off of Union Dues		
Article III	Grievance and Arbitration Procedure		
Article IV	Seniority	4	
Article V	Overtime	6	
Article VI	Shift Differential	8	
Article VII	Union Representatives	8	
Article VIII	Meal Periods	9	
Article IX	Rest Periods	9	
Article X	Clean-up Time	9	
Article XI	Sick Leave	9	
Article XII	Funeral Leave	14	
Article XIII	Personal Leave	15	
Article XIV	Maternity Leave	16	
Article XV	Jury Pay	17	
Article XVI	Classification and Compensation Plan	17	
Article XVII	Longevity	20	
Article XVIII	Holidays	21	
Article XIX	Protection	23	
Article XX	No Strike	24	
Article XXI	Vacations	24	
Article XXII	Bulletin Boards	27	
Article XXIII	Special Provisions Applying to Professional Employees	28	
	Covered by Agreement		
Article XXIV	Water Department Certification Requirements	30	
Article XXV	Management Rights	31	
Article XXVI	Contract Provisions	32	
Article XXVII	Working Out of Classification	32	
Article XXVIII	Miscellaneous Article	32	
Article XXIX	Performance Evaluation	33	
Article XXX	Labor-Management Committee	35	
Article XXXI	Residency	35	
Article XXXII	Emergency Telecommunications Dispatchers (E-911	35	
	Telecommunications)		
Article XXXIII	Drug Testing	36	
Article XXXIV	Term and Effect of Agreement	37	
Attachment A	Salary Schedules	A-1 – A-4	
	Paramedic Work Schedule	Attachment B	
	Agreement – CORI Checks	Attachment C	
	City of New Bedford Position Grade Structure	Attachment D	

This Agreement entered into under the provision of Chapter 150E of the Massachusetts General Laws effective the 1st day of July, 2013 by the City of New Bedford, hereinafter referred to as the "Employer", and Local 851, State Council 93, American Federation of State, County and Municipal Employees, AFL-CIO, hereinafter referred to as the "Union", has as its purpose the promotion of harmonious relations between the Employer and the Union; the establishment of an equitable and peaceful procedure for the resolution of differences; and the establishment of rates of pay, hours of work and other conditions of employment.

ARTICLE I REGOGNITION

The Employer recognizes the Union as the sole and exclusive bargaining agent for the purposes of establishing salaries, wages, hours and other conditions of employment for the following classes of employees: All employees of the City of New Bedford (including Traffic Supervisors) in the Classification and Compensation Plan referred to as Unit A and Unit B including the following classes of employees considered Professional Employees by the City: Supervising Laboratory Technician, Emergency Medical Technicians (EMT's), Public Health Nurses, Sanitarians, Bacteriologists, Treatment Chemists, Sanitary Inspectors, Code Enforcement Officers, Senior Engineering Draftsman, and Civil Engineers, but excluding Uniformed Officers, employees of the New Bedford School Department, persons employed under certain federally funded programs, such as (but not necessarily limited to) Community Development Program (CD), Comprehensive Employment and Training Act (CETA), and such other programs as may by law be excluded from the provisions of Article II of this contract, Department Heads, and other supervisory personnel, Head Treatment Plan Operator (Wastewater), Chief Sanitarian (Health Department) and, by attrition, the positions of Supervisor of Nurses and Head Treatment Plan Operator (Quittacas) when these positions become vacant, Professional Employees other than those listed above, and other employees identified as belonging to Unit C.

The term "Professional Employee" as used herein, either in singular or plural form, shall have the same definition as said word or term is given under the provisions of Chapter 150E of Massachusetts General Laws.

The term "part-time" employees include regular employees of the City who are employed on a part-time basis having a minimum of twenty (20) working hours per week.

ARTICLE II CHECK-OFF OF UNION DUES

If, during the term of the Agreement, any employee covered by this Agreement files with the Employer an authorization of check-off of dues, the Employer agrees to deduct union membership dues levied in accordance with the Constitution of the Union from the compensation of each such employee.

The Employer further agrees to remit by the fifth (5th) day of each week the aggregate amount of such deductions made during the preceding week to the Treasurer of the Union along with a list of those employees from whom said dues have been deducted.

The Union agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Employer from any liability incurred by the Employer as a result of making any dues or agency fee deduction in accordance with the provisions of this Article and on the basis of an unrevoked authorization of check-off. No revocation of check-off shall be effective unless filed in writing with the City Auditor of the City of New Bedford.

The Employer agrees to notify the Union in writing whenever deductions are not made in accordance with an authorization of check-off due to the fact that an employee is not on the payroll during any payroll period, whether due to illness, retirement, resignation or other cause. The Employer also agrees to notify the Union in writing whenever a new employee is placed on the payroll in any position covered by the contract. Such notification shall be made within ten (10) working days of the date of his employment.

It shall be a condition of employment that on or after the thirtieth (30th) day following employment in the bargaining unit, or the effective date of this Agreement, whichever is later, each member of the bargaining unit shall pay to the Union an agency service fee which shall be proportionately commensurate with the cost of collective bargaining and contract administration. The agency fee for the duration of this Agreement shall be paid weekly and equal to the union dues. The Employer shall call attention of each new employee to this provision upon his employment.

In consideration of the Employer's entering into this collective bargaining agreement, which Agreement includes any agency service fee provision, the Union hereby agrees to indemnify the said Employer and hold it harmless from any and all claims, liabilities or costs of the Employer which arise out of entering into or enforcement of said provision or which arise out of the payroll deduction of agency service fees.

ARTICLE III GRIEVANCE AND ARBITRATION PROCEDURE

Any grievance or dispute which may arise between the parties with regard to the application, meaning or interpretation of this Agreement shall be settled in the following manner: For purposes of this Article, the date of the grievance shall be considered to be the date of which the grievance or dispute is brought to the attention of the union steward. The employee(s) involved shall bring notice of said violation or dispute to the union steward within two (2) working days of the date of the occurrence of said violation or dispute or the date the employee knew or should have known of the alleged violation or dispute.

STEP 1:

The union steward and/or representative, with or without the aggrieved employee, shall take up the grievance in writing with the employee's Department Head within five (5) working

days of the date of the grievance. The Department Head shall attempt to adjust the matter and shall respond to the steward within five (5) working days of the presentation of the grievance.

STEP 2:

If the grievance still remains unsettled, it shall be presented to the Director of Labor Relations and Personnel, acting for the Mayor, in writing within five (5) working days after the response of the Department Head is due. The Director shall respond in writing within thirty (30) working days of the presentation of the grievance. Failure by the Director to reply within this period shall be construed as a decision favorable to the employee.

STEP 3:

If the grievance is still unsettled, either party may, within thirty (30) working days after the Director's reply is due, by written notice to the other, request arbitration.

The services of the American Arbitration Association shall be utilized for purposes of arbitration of disputes over the interpretation or application of the terms of this Agreement as provided in Chapter 150E of the General Laws, as amended.

The decision of the arbitrator shall be final and binding on the parties and the arbitrator shall be requested to issue his decision in accordance with the rules of the American Arbitration Association.

The expense, if any, for the arbitrator's services and the proceedings shall be borne equally by the Employer and the Union. If either party desires a verbatim record of the proceeding, it may cause such a record to be made, providing it pays for the record and makes copies available without charge to the other party and to the arbitrator.

Grievances involving disciplinary action shall be processed beginning at the second step. If the case reaches arbitration, the arbitrator shall have the power to direct a resolution of the grievance up to and including restoration to the job with all compensation and privileges that would have been due the employee.

When an employee covered by this Agreement is suspended for any reason by his supervisor or Department Head, said employee shall be given notice in writing of the suspension, together with an explanation of the reason(s) therefore. Copies of such notices must also be provided to the employee's union steward and the union president.

At least forty-eight (48) hours shall be allowed from the time of filing of the notice with the Union before such suspension may be placed in effect, during which time the Union shall attempt to settle the difficulty with the suspending authority; except that in cases in which the cause for suspension involves acts of violence, acts commonly considered to be of a criminal nature, or acts endangering property and/or the safety of fellow employees or the public, such suspension may be implemented and the employee's union steward notified immediately.

Written notice of said suspension shall be furnished to the Union within twenty-four (24) hours of the implementation of the suspension.

Where arbitration is elected by the employee as the method for resolving disputes involving suspension, dismissal, removal or termination, notwithstanding any contrary provision in Sections 39 through 44 of Chapter 31, it shall be the exclusive procedure for resolving any such dispute, except that the City may for any reason discharge or suspend an employee (1) during his or her probationary period as defined in Par. 12 of the Rules of Personnel Administration and/or (2) an employee appointed as a provisional employee with one year or less of service with the City of New Bedford. Once a demand for arbitration has been made, the employee waives all rights to resolve the dispute under statutory procedures set forth in Chapter 31 and such waiver under Chapter 31 must be in writing and is a condition precedent to filing a demand for arbitration under this article. If both parties agree they may submit a grievance to mediation before arbitration.

ARTICLE IV SENIORITY

SECTION 1.

In all cases in which the Employer promotes employees within the bargaining unit from a list of employees eligible for promotion, which list is issued under the provisions of Massachusetts General Laws, Chapter 31, the principle of seniority shall govern, provided that all other facts reasonably related to qualification for promotions are equal.

SECTION 2.

When, at any time, an opening for promotional advancement occurs within the department, the department shall post a notice for employees of said opening (with a copy to the steward) at least seven (7) days prior to any action to fill such opening. A copy of the notice, with the signatures of the employees wishing to be considered for the position thereon, shall be submitted to the President of the Union within two (2) working days of the closing date for applications.

SECTION 3.

In all cases in which a vacancy exists in a department (except in positions where special training, experience or education is required), the principle of seniority shall govern where ability, dependability and capacity (physical or otherwise) to perform the duties are adequate to meet such job requirements and are equal, provided they do not conflict with the requirements and best interest of the City; provided further that the length of time an employee has held a special license as an employee of the City shall be a factor in determining the capacity of an employee to perform the duties of Motor Equipment Operator or other position which requires such special license.

SECTION 4.

Where there is an existing Civil Service list for a higher position to be filled on a temporary basis, the selection of an employee to perform temporary service in such higher position shall be made in accordance with Civil Service Rules. When there is no existing civil service list for the position to be filled temporarily, the selection of any employee to perform temporary service in such higher position shall be made on the basis of qualifications and ability, and where qualifications and ability are relatively equal, seniority as defined under Civil Service Law and rule shall be the determining factor. In the event that the senior applicant for the position is not selected, the Appointing Authority shall submit reasons to the Union in writing why such senior employee was not selected to fill the position. In making appointments to any vacant position within the bargaining unit, the Appointing Authority agrees not to exercise its judgment arbitrarily, capriciously or unreasonably.

SECTION 5.

When an Appointing Authority makes a permanent or provisional appointment under Civil Service to fill a vacancy, the assignment of the newly appointed employee shall be made only after the vacancy has been posted for five (5) working days and the employees within that classification in the department, or division within the department, have been given the opportunity to bid by seniority. Nothing herein shall be construed to limit the Department Head from making temporary or lateral transfers of employees within a classification. No lateral transfer of an employee on a permanent basis shall be permitted which serves to defeat the purpose of this provision.

SECTION 6.

Seniority shall be recognized as the controlling factor for shift assignment within a department or division. The exercise of seniority shall be limited to an opening within a classification title only. When an employee is newly assigned to a job, the City may, for a period of three (3) months, select the shift assignment for the employee. Nothing in this section shall be construed to limit the right of the City to establish, change, enlarge or decrease shifts or the number of personnel assigned thereto, provided that the rights of seniority set forth in this Agreement are followed in making the necessary personnel assignments.

SECTION 7.

The term "seniority", as applied to this article, shall be interpreted to mean total service rendered to the City by an employee, regardless of departmental affiliation (including the New Bedford School Department), in a permanent, provisional or temporary classification except that (1) employment in a temporary and/or provisional capacity must have led to a permanent classification in a continuous and unbroken period of service, and (2) because service in the School Department shall be based on the total months of service completed during continuous and unbroken terms of service, with twelve (12) such months being considered equivalent to one year of seniority. Where a break or breaks in employee service has occurred, the seniority starting date shall be the beginning of the current period of time of unbroken service, unless such previous service is permitted under Section 33 of Chapter 31 of the Massachusetts General Laws.

ARTICLE V OVERTIME

Employees covered by this Agreement shall be paid overtime at the rate of one and one-half times their regular rate of pay for work in excess of their normal workday and/or normal work week. No employee shall be entitled to be paid more than one and one-half times his hourly rate of pay for any hours worked, except those worked on a holiday.

Any employee called back to work on the same day after having completed his assigned work and left his place of employment and before his next regularly scheduled starting time, shall be paid at the rate of time and one-half for all hours worked on recall. He will be guaranteed a minimum of three (3) hours pay at time and one-half. When employees are required to commence work prior to the start time of their regular shift, the Parties agree to the following:

- a. When an employee is directed (verbally or in writing), prior to the completion of his or her regular shift or any overtime hours worked immediately following the completion of his or her regular shift, that he or she is to report to work the following day earlier than the regular starting time for his or her shift, this shall not be considered a "call back" and the employee shall be entitled to receive overtime compensation for only the hours actually worked prior to the start of his or her regular shift.
- b. When an employee is called in to work early, without having received prior notice as described in paragraph a above, this situation shall be considered a "call back" and the employee shall be entitled to receive a minimum of three hours of overtime compensation for work performed prior to the start time of this or her regular shift.
- c. Employees being paid for a three (3) hour call back shall not receive additional compensation if they are called back within the original three (3) hour call back period.

Attendance at meetings of Boards or Commissions that are scheduled for other than the employee's normal work shift which are clearly defined as "Voluntary" or "Non-obligatory" shall not require payment under the terms of this Article. No discrimination, coercion or other punitive action may be exercised against an employee who elects not to attend such meetings.

Clerks who are required to attend meetings of Boards, Commissions or City Council beyond their regular work day shall be paid time and one-half their regular hourly rate of pay. All previous practices shall be eliminated effective upon the execution of this Agreement.

Compensatory time will be allowed to accumulate in lieu of payment at the option of the employee for overtime at the rate of time and one-half for each hour of overtime. Compensatory time may not accrue beyond ninety (90) hours for each employee. An employee who works overtime and has ninety (90) hours of compensatory time shall be paid for hours worked on overtime. Use of compensatory time will be allowed to an employee so long as the compensatory time does not cause interference with the regular work in a department or cause

additional overtime expense. No employee will be discriminated against for not accepting compensatory time in lieu of payment for overtime.

Part-time employees may accrue forty-five (45) hours maximum of compensatory time. Existing employees shall be allowed to carry over from year to year all previously accrued time on the books as of June 30, 2000. After July 1, 2000, any additional compensatory time accrued must be used in the fiscal year in which it is earned. Employees ordered or requested to forego use of their compensatory time shall be paid in full. Compensatory time earned in June in any calendar year may be carried over to the next fiscal year.

In emergencies or as the needs of the City require, employees may be required to perform overtime work. Employees will be given as much advance notice as possible of overtime work. Scheduled overtime will be posted and distributed to all employees in a department on an equitable and fair basis according to seniority and among those employees who regularly perform such work. In the event a department needs additional employees to perform overtime work, this overtime work shall be divided and rotated as equally as possible among other employees in the bargaining unit according to seniority among those who are qualified to perform the work.

Employees shall have the option of declining offered overtime, but in the event that sufficient personnel do not accept such offered overtime on a voluntary basis, or in the event of emergency situations where time is of the essence in executing the overtime work, employees such as are deemed necessary by the City may be required to work on an assigned basis; and provided further that there shall be no discrimination or disciplinary action taken against any employee who declines to work overtime on a voluntary basis.

The Employer shall keep records in each department in a time book of overtime work. In case of a grievance involving such records, they shall be subject to examination by the union representative or the shop steward with the foreman of the division involved.

The posting of overtime shall be prominently displayed and overtime assignments shall be made by assignment and not by calculating the number of hours worked.

Approved leave with pay shall be synonymous with work time for purposes of computing overtime, provided, however, that sick leave shall always be paid at regular wage rates.

Holiday pay is paid time for overtime purposes for employees whose normal work week falls within five (5) consecutive days if the paid holiday falls within said normal work week.

For employees whose work week normally consists of five (5) days within a period of six (6) or seven (7) consecutive days, holiday pay is not paid time for overtime purposes if the holiday falls on a normal day off.

ARTICLE VI SHIFT DIFFERENTIAL

All employees working a late shift on a regular scheduled basis shall be paid a differential of an additional seven percent (7%) of their regular rate of pay. The term "late shift", as herein used, shall mean a shift the major portion of which falls between the hours of 6:00 P.M. and 7:00 A.M. of the next day. Paramedics shall be paid a differential of an additional seven percent (7%) of their regular rate of pay for the night tours of duty commencing at 4:00 p.m. and midnight that would take effect on the first pay period following the signing of this agreement. Emergency Medical Technicians or Paramedics absent for more than twenty (20) consecutive days shall not be paid the shift differential during any period beyond twenty (20) consecutive days.

ARTICLE VII UNION REPRESENTATIVES

A written list of union stewards and union officials shall be furnished to the Employer immediately after their designation and the Union shall notify the Employer of any changes. In the event the officers of Council 93 are required to attend monthly meetings of the local union and an employee who is an officer or steward of the local union is regularly scheduled to work that day, he/she shall be compensated at his/her regular hourly rate of pay during the period of his/her absence for the meeting.

The City agrees to notify the Union President of memos and postings regarding union members.

The above shall be granted reasonable time off during working hours to investigate and settle grievances arising under the provisions of this Agreement.

During the term of this Agreement, as many as four (4) employees who are union stewards or union officials or elected delegates shall be granted time off, without loss of pay, at any time for the purpose of attending meetings of State or national bodies with which the union is affiliated. No more than two (2) employees from one (1) department may be permitted to attend such meetings. Employees may be granted leave without pay for no more than three (3) conventions or meetings per calendar year.

The City agrees to permit union representatives to be present at all hearings and meetings involving personnel matters. No employee shall be refused union representation in matters involving discipline or job performance.

The City agrees that once during the months of February, May, August and November, prior to the fifteenth (15th) day of each said month, the Mayor or his designee will meet with the representatives of the Union for the purpose of discussing such matters as the Union determines. The Union agrees that on or before the first of each of the above-numerated months, it will provide the City's Director of Labor Relations and Personnel with a written list of the topics it wishes to discuss.

ARTICLE VIII

MEAL PERIODS

All employees regularly employed outside of the Municipal Building shall be granted a meal period of three quarters (3/4) hour duration during each work shift, except for those employees who work eight (8) hour shifts which are one of three (3) continuous shifts. Whenever possible, the meal period shall be scheduled at the middle of the shift.

ARTICLE IX REST PERIODS

All full-time employees' work schedules shall provide for a ten (10) minute rest period during each one-half (1/2) shift. To the extent possible, the rest period shall be scheduled at the middle of each one-half (1/2) shift. Part-time employees shall have a rest period of no more than ten (10) minutes to be scheduled in the middle of their shift.

ARTICLE X CLEAN-UP TIME

Employees in the Labor Service shall be granted a ten-minute personal clean-up period prior to the end of each shift. Work schedules shall be arranged so employees may take advantage of this provision; when practicable, the Employer shall make the required facilities available.

In the event that an employee's clothing and/or person become unexpectedly contaminated with malodorous or caustic substances, such as sewage, chemicals, etc., to the extent that a hygienic or personal health problem is caused, such employee shall be granted necessary wash-up time without penalty.

ARTICLE XI SICK LEAVE

SECTION 1.

Each employee, except emergency or temporary employees with less than thirty (30) weeks of service or twelve hundred (1200) hours in the aggregate shall be credited with sick leave with pay at the rate of one and one-quarter (1½) days for each month of service starting after the date of this Agreement. Sick leave credit will begin the first (1st) day of the month following the month in which a new employee is employed. Sick leave may be accumulated up to one hundred eighty (180) days. Any accumulations, which present employees have at the effective date of this Agreement, shall remain in effect.

A full-time employee shall accumulate sick leave credit with pay at the rate of one one-quarter (1½) workdays for each full calendar month of employment. An employee on any leave with pay or industrial accident leave shall accumulate sick leave credits. A full-time employee shall not accrue sick leave credit for any month in which he or she was on leave without pay, or absent without pay for the entire month.

Regular employees of the City, who are employed on a part-time basis having a minimum of twenty (20) hours per week, shall be entitled to one and one-quarter (1½) days of sick leave per month based on a part-time day of four (4) hours' duration.

A list of accumulated sick leave shall be posted in each department for all employees within that department by January 31 for the previous year ending December 31. No transfer within the service of the City shall affect the amount of earned sick leave credit and accumulation to which an employee is entitled under this Article, including sick leave credit earned while an employee may have been employed with the New Bedford School Department.

Employees who have to their sick leave account a maximum accumulation of one hundred eighty (180) days on each January 1 thereafter will be permitted to use no more than fifteen (15) days of sick leave during the calendar year before any deduction is made from their maximum accumulation.

Notwithstanding this procedure for sick leave use, no employee shall be paid more than one hundred eighty (180) days in Severance Pay pursuant to Article XI, Section 7.

Sick leave shall be allowed in increments of no less than one hour (not in minutes).

SECTION 2.

An employee who is reinstated or re-employed after an absence of less than one (1) year shall be credited with his or her sick leave credit at the termination of his or her prior employment.

SECTION 3.

Employees whose service with the City is terminated for cause shall not be entitled to any compensation in lieu of accumulated sick leave credits.

SECTION 4.

Sick leave credits earned by an employee following a return to duty after leave without pay or absence without pay shall not be applied to such period of time.

SECTION 5.

Notification of absences under this Article must be given to the designated representative of the Appointing Authority as early as possible. Each department shall post in a conspicuous place the procedure and person to notify of an illness so that employees will be clearly informed of the procedures to follow.

SECTION 6.

A Department Head may request a doctor's verification of an employee's condition. Medical certification will not be required to substantiate request for approval of sick leave of three (3) days or less. A doctor's verification of illness may be required by a Department Head regardless of duration in cases of frequent use of sick leave or also when the pattern of sick leave used indicates a potential abuse of sick leave privileges. Expenses, if any, resulting from verification of illness will be the responsibility of the employee.

In the event of illness requiring a doctor's certificate, separate certificates for each pay period shall not be required. A doctor's certificate for an illness beyond three (3) days shall be submitted before the next pay period stating the expected length of time the employee will be unable to work and will be considered sufficient proof of illness to insure continuing receipt of sick pay. In the event an illness will exceed the length of time stated by the physician, the first certificate may be extended in writing by a physician. A certificate stating the date on which the employee is capable of returning to his duties shall be submitted by the employee upon his return to work.

SECTION 7.

Each employee retired by the Retirement Board or who dies after ten (10) years of satisfactory service shall receive in one lump sum forty-five (\$45.00) for each day actual accumulated sick leave. Each employee who resigns with ten (10) or more years of service and with at least seventy-five (75) days of accumulated sick leave upon the effective date of resignation, shall receive in one lump sum forty-five dollars (\$45.00) for each day of accumulated sick leave.

SECTION 8.

It is agreed that whenever a female employee shall become pregnant, she shall furnish her Department Head or Appointing Authority with a certificate from her physician stating the approximate date of her delivery. She may continue to work as long as her physician certifies that she is able to do so, provided that the Department head does not find her work performance is impaired. Disabilities caused or contributed to by pregnancy, miscarriage, abortion, childbirth and recovery therefrom are, for all job-related purposes, temporary disabilities and should be treated as such under the sick leave provisions of this Agreement. Sick leave policy shall be applied to disability due to pregnancy or childbirth on the same terms and conditions as they are applied to other disabilities, provided that nothing in this Article shall restrict a female employee from requesting a leave of absence without pay under the provision of General Laws, Chapter 31.

SECTION 9.

Employees will be provided an incentive for attendance as of November 15 of each year in which no sick leave days are taken in an amount of \$400.00. The penalties for sick leave use will be in the following amounts:

November 15, 2014

```
0 days of sick leave - $400.00

1 day of sick leave - 350.00

2 days of sick leave - 300.00

3 days of sick leave - 250.00

4 days of sick leave - 200.00

5 days of sick leave - 150.00

More than 5 days 0.00
```

Payments will be made by November 30 of each new year. Use of sick leave pending a determination by Workers' Compensation will not be considered sick leave use if the Workers' Compensation claim has been approved for payment and the employee has been reaccredited with his/her sick leave. Further, in the event an employee is absent due to an injury that is work-related that would be compensable under Workers' Compensation but for the fact he/she was absent for less than five (5) days, use of sick leave will not be charged against his/her record of attendance for the purpose of incentive payment.

Newly hired employees after November 15 of each year who are employed for six (6) months or more during the period November 15 through November 14 of a year will entitled to the following sick leave incentive:

November 15, 2014			
0 days of sick leave -	\$200.00		
1 day of sick leave -	175.00		
2 days of sick leave -	150.00		
3 days of sick leave -	125.00		
4 days of sick leave -	100.00		
5 days of sick leave -	75.00		
More than 5 days	0.00		

Employees with six (6) months or less of service shall not be entitled to sick leave incentive payment.

Temporary employees with thirty (30) or more weeks of service as of November 15 qualify for sick leave incentive. The date of hire will be the date used to determine which incentive chart is applied from Section 9. From their date of hire, any work days missed by the employee, for whatever reasons, will be considered days taken as sick time which will reduce the amount paid under the sick leave incentive program.

SECTION 10.

Employees who are absent from work due to an industrial accident which has been reported within three (3) working days of the date of the accident may, at their option, draw upon their sick leave, day by day, until they exhaust their sick leave or upon receipt of their first Workers' Compensation claim, the employee will reimburse the City for that portion of the sick leave which was used during the period in which the employee was waiting for Workers'

Compensation approval. The employee shall then be re-credited with the sick leave, which was used during the same period.

SECTION 11.

A. ESTABLISHMENT

A Sick Leave Bank shall be established for the purpose of making additional sick leave days available to employees who are not "Sick Leave Abusers", i.e., have never received a warning for excessive absenteeism, have exhausted their entire sick leave accumulation through prolonged illness and who have serious illness or injury. A warning of excessive absenteeism or sick leave abuse shall be removed if the employee works five (5) consecutive years without any notice of sick leave abuse. Participation in the Sick Leave Bank shall be voluntary. Any employee who voluntarily participates in the Sick Leave Bank shall be eligible to use the Bank after using all available time (sick days, vacation, compensatory and personal time) due the employee.

B. FUNDING

The Sick Leave Bank will be initially funded by deducing one (1) sick day from the accumulated sick leave days of each employee who has agreed to participate in the Bank and contributing such day(s) to the Bank. When the Bank is depleted to sixty (60) sick leave days, an additional assessment of one (1) day of sick leave shall be made against the account of each employee who has agreed to continue to participate in the Bank, without a membership solicitation.

C. GRANTING OF DAYS

The initial grant of sick leave days from the Bank shall not exceed forty (40) days, after which the employee may reapply for additional periods of twenty (20) days. The total amount of time may not exceed one hundred eighty (180) days in the aggregate. Requests for Sick Leave Bank days shall be submitted in writing to the Sick Leave Bank Committee and shall include a written statement from the employee's physician indicating the nature and the extent of the illness or injury and the estimated time that the employee will be absent from work.

D. MEMBERSHIP

Employees wishing to join the Bank must apply for membership on a form approved by the Sick Leave Bank Committee. New employees must have three (3) years of service or have accrued twenty (20) days of sick leave in order to be eligible to join the Sick Leave Bank. Current employees of AFSCME wishing to join the Bank must submit an application for membership to Sick Leave Bank Committee, AFSCME, Local 851, 46 Foster Street, New Bedford, MA 02740. Membership will be open to all employees after the finish of their probationary time, staying consistent with

Article XI, Section 1. Employees may join the Sick Leave Bank in November and remain a member until resignation.

E. ADMINISTRATION

The Sick Leave Bank shall be administered by a Sick Leave Bank Committee comprised of five (5) persons; three (3) employees of the City who are members of AFSCME, Local 851, and two (2) members designated by the Mayor. The Sick Leave Bank Committee shall submit a copy of membership list with the number of days to be deducted from each member to the Personnel Department, Auditor's Office and employee's department by January 31st of each year. The decisions of the Sick Leave Bank Committee shall be final and shall NOT be subject to the grievance procedure. To be able to serve on the committee, the AFSCME member has to participate in the Sick Leave Bank.

F. WORKERS' COMPENSATION

Employees who are drawing upon Workers' Compensation will not be eligible to draw from the Sick Leave Bank.

G. SICK LEAVE INCENTIVE

Donations to the Sick Leave Bank shall not affect the employee's sick leave incentive.

SECTION 12.

Employees may use no more than five (5) sick days per calendar year effective January 1, 2005 to care for a mother, father, spouse, child, adopted child, child of spouse, or grandparent of the employee.

ARTICLE XII FUNERAL LEAVE

- 1. A maximum of four (4) working days leave of absence within five (5) working days of the funeral shall be granted to an employee on request when a death occurs to an employee's spouse, child, parent or step-child living in the household.
- 2. A maximum of three (3) working days leave of absence within five (5) working days of the funeral shall be granted to an employee on request when a death occurs to other members of an employee's immediate family.
- 3. In the case of cremation, one (1) day may be delayed for use at a later time within ninety (90) days of the death.

- 4. The immediate family is to be considered father, mother, spouse, the spouse of an employee's father or mother if the spouse is not the employee's natural parent, child, brother, sister, step brother, step sister, grandparent, grandchild, mother-in-law, father-in-law, daughter-in-law, son-in-law, adopted children, any stepchildren living within the household of the employee and a live-in companion of the employee who has lived with the employee for twelve (12) consecutive months before the death of the companion and is acknowledged to be a live-in companion regardless of sexual orientation.
- 5. One day's leave of absence will be authorized for the death of aunt, uncle, niece or nephew of the employee, husband or wife of a brother or sister of the employee, including the husband or wife of the brother or sister of the employee's spouse, and a brother, sister, aunt, uncle, grandparent or grandchild of a spouse, stepchild of the employee residing outside the employee's household.
- 6. The employee must attend the funeral to be entitled to the above payment. No payment shall be made for any days of absence during the bereavement period in which the employee is not regularly scheduled to work, Saturdays and Sundays or holidays. The one-day leave of absence must be taken within the three (3) calendar days of death. No employee shall lose pay to which he is normally entitled to while on leave of absence for death in the family nor will it be charged to sick leave or vacation pay.

ARTICLE XIII PERSONAL LEAVE

All permanent or provisional full-time employees who have successfully completed the required probationary period of six (6) months, or is a provisional employee with six (6) months of service, will be eligible for the following personal leave which may be taken during the calendar year.

- 20 hours for 20 hour workers
- 30 hours for 30 hour workers
- 35 hours for 35 hour workers
- 37.5 hours for 37.5 hour workers
- 40 hours for 40 hour workers

No employee will be allowed to use any advance personal leave prior to the conclusion of this six (6) month period.

When a full-time employee becomes eligible at the end of six months for personal leave during the calendar year, the date of hire will be the date used to credit personal days based upon the following schedule:

Date of Eligibility

Personal Leave

January 2 – March 31	5 paid leave days
April 1 – June 30	3.75 paid leave days
July 1 – September 30	2.5 paid leave days
October 1 – December 31	1.25 paid leave day

Temporary or emergency employees shall not be eligible for personal leave. Permanent part-time employees shall be eligible for personal leave based upon their part-time day, e.g. an employee who regularly works four (4) hours a day shall be eligible for sixteen (16) hours of personal leave annually after completion of six (6) months of service. If such six (6) months of service occurs after January 1 of a calendar year, such hours shall be reduced in the same manner as a regular full-time employee as described above.

Request for personal leave must be submitted to the employee's immediate supervisor and approved by the Department Head on an "Application of Leave" form. The application must be submitted two (2) working days before the anticipated personal leave, unless the circumstances for requesting such leave did not permit the two (2) working days notice.

Personal leave may be requested in units of no less than three (3) hours and no more than one (1) working day. Personal leave shall not be authorized in the following circumstances:

- 1. Absences due to inclement weather, such as snowstorms.
- 2. Absences during periods when the work within a department requires the necessary staff for timely and efficient operations of the department, unless the request for personal leave is for a purpose to conduct necessary personal business that must be conducted during hours on the day requested.
- 3. Absences due to illness or injury if the employee has sick leave available for such purposes.

Personal leave shall not accrue from one calendar year to the next year. If personal leave is not taken in any calendar year, any unused personal leave shall be converted to sick days. An employee who is terminated or resigns from employment will not be compensated for any accrued personal leave at the time of termination or resignation.

ARTICLE XIV MATERNITY LEAVE

The granting of leaves of absence without pay for maternity reasons shall be subject to Civil Service provisions. Upon expiration of an approved leave of absence, or earlier if so requested by an employee, such employee shall be reinstated in the position held at the time the leave was granted, if approved by Civil Service.

It is agreed that whenever a female Emergency Medical Technician shall become pregnant, she shall furnish the Department Head with a certificate from her physician stating the approximate date of her delivery. She may continue to work so long as her physician certifies

that she is able to do so, provided that the Department Head does not find her work performance impaired. Disabilities caused or contributed to by pregnancy, miscarriage, abortion, childbirth and recovery therefrom are, for all job-related purposes, are temporary disabilities and should be treated as such under the sick leave provisions of this Agreement. Sick leave policy shall be applied to disability due to pregnancy or childbirth on the same terms and conditions as they are applied to other disabilities, provided that nothing in this Article shall restrict a female employee from requesting leave of absence without pay under the provisions of General Laws, Chapter 31. It is further agreed that those female employees of the department who are pregnant and request inside work after the second trimester will be accommodated and the Department Head will assign said employee to any position or duties in any work schedule at the sole discretion of the Director. Call people will be used to fill the vacancy created by the employee.

ARTICLE XV JURY PAY

In the event a City employee is called to appear for jury duty or is serving on a jury, the employee shall be excused from working his/her daily shift during the same twenty-four (24) hour work period as the jury service occurs. The employee should be compensated at the same pay rate as he/she normally receives for working a full shift.

ARTICLE XVI CLASSIFICATION AND COMPENSATION PLAN

SECTION 1.

The pay schedule of July 3, 2011 shall be amended as follows:

July 1, 2013 – no increase.

July 1, 2014 - 1.5% increase all steps and pay grades for employees on the payroll on date of ratification.

July 1,2015 - 1.5% increase all steps and pay grades.

June 30, 2016 - 1.25% increase all steps and pay grades.

Effective on date of signing the contract place SMEO 1A in pay grade 9 from current pay grade 8.

Signing bonus of \$1,000.00 for each bargaining unit member on payroll upon date of ratification payable 30 days from date of signing collective bargaining agreement.

See Attachments A-1, A-2, A-3 and A-4.

Pay increases shall apply only to employees on payroll on date of ratification.

No earlier than the week beginning December 4, 2014, employee earnings will be paid bi-weekly on Thursdays and by direct deposit (electronic paycheck in lieu of paper payroll notice when available).

SECTION 2.

There is attached to this Agreement and made a part hereof a Position Grade Structure referred to as Attachment D wherein job titles are assigned to a specific pay grade contained within Attachment D-1 through D-4.

SECTION 3.

On original appointment, all employees shall be paid at the minimum rate for the pay grade to which the appointment is made. Advancement from the minimum to the maximum rate within a salary grade shall be by annual step rate increases.

SECTION 4.

Full-time employees shall be granted step rate increases upon completion of each year of creditable service effective on the first day of the weekly payroll period in which such service is completed; provided that no step rate increase shall be granted if the Department Head of an employee eligible for such step rate increase recommends to the Mayor, in writing with reasons therefore and with a copy to the employee, that a step rate increase is not warranted or justified upon review of the employee's performance. The decision of the Mayor to grant or disapprove a step rate increase shall be subject to the grievance and arbitration procedure. Creditable service shall be based on a period of fifty-two (52) weeks of work.

SECTION 5.

Part-time or permanent intermittent employees shall be employed initially at the minimum rate in the salary grade to which the appointment is made. Less than full-time employees shall advance on the salary schedule in the same manner as full-time employees as their part-time service bears to full-time.

SECTION 6.

Nothing in this Article shall change the provisions that when a Motor Equipment Operator is assigned to equipment that is temporarily idled for repairs or other temporary causes, he/she shall continue to be paid at the salary grade established for operating such equipment. Laborers assigned to Solid Waste and EMT-I's in the Emergency Medical Services shall continue to receive the differential presently paid for such assignments. The Plumber assigned to pipefitting duties shall continue to receive a trade allowance of \$14.50 per week.

SECTION 7.

Upon the certification by a Department Head to the Mayor that qualified applicants cannot be secured at the minimum salary prescribed for a position, the Mayor may authorize payment of initial compensation above the minimum but not exceeding the maximum of the salary grade for such position. Whenever such recruitment is authorized, all employees in the same class being paid at a rate below such recruitment rate shall be advanced to the recruitment rate of the salary schedule.

SECTION 8.

The salary or compensation of an employee shall not be increased or reallocated to a salary grade higher than set forth in Attachment D unless all positions in the same job title are so increased or reallocated.

SECTION 9.

On promotion or change to a classification in a higher pay grade, an employee shall receive the next higher step rate for the classification to which the change has been made above his/her current rate.

SECTION 10.

Temporary Laborers shall receive the minimum wage.

Crash Crew employees (Airport) completing training will be assigned pay at Grade 7.

SECTION 11.

Individual employees shall have the right to appeal the propriety of the classification of his/her position through the Personnel Director. In order to appeal a classification, the individual employee must establish, to the satisfaction of the Union and Personnel Director, one or more of the following reasons for appeal:

- a. A material change in duties and responsibilities.
- b. A reorganization of departmental operations causing a change in duties, responsibilities and accountability.
- c. The introduction of new technologies of work processes that required the training and/or improvements in the skills of an employee.
- d. A material change in the working conditions of an employee.

The City and Union agree that the procedure provided in this section shall be the sole procedure for individual appeals and such appeal may not be the subject of a grievance or

arbitration under Article III. Nothing in this section shall be construed to prevent an employee from filing a grievance under Article XXVII – Working Out of Classification.

SECTION 14.

Regular full-time employees who are required to use their personal automobile for official purposes on a daily basis shall be compensated by the City at a rate of five dollars and fifty (\$5.50) per day for the first to hundred fifty (250) miles per week and thirty-one and one-half cents (.315¢) per mile for all travel in excess of two hundred fifty (250) miles per week thereafter.

Employees employed at the Quittacas Pumping Station shall receive an additional on dollar and fifty cents (\$1.50) per day for all days worked.

ARTICLE XVII LONGEVITY

Each employee will be entitled to the following payments, based on his/her continuous length of service and longevity in any City department, provided that in the case of a School Department employee, the employee shall have resigned from the School Department for the purpose of accepting employment with another department of the City of New Bedford.

Those employees employed with ten (10) through fourteen (14) years of service as of November 30 of the calendar year shall receive four hundred fifty (\$450) dollars per year.

Those employees employed with fifteen (15) through nineteen (19) years of service as of November 30 of the calendar year shall receive five hundred fifty (\$550) dollars per year.

Those employees employed with twenty (20) years through twenty-four (24) years of service as of November 30 of the calendar year shall receive six hundred fifty (\$650) dollars per year.

Those employees employed with twenty-five (25) through twenty-nine (29) years of service as of November 30 of the calendar year shall receive seven hundred fifty (\$750) dollars per year.

Those employees employed with more than thirty (30) years of service as of November 30 of the calendar year shall receive eight hundred fifty (\$850) dollars.

Those employees with more than thirty-five (35) years of service as of November 30 of the calendar year shall receive one thousand (\$1,000) dollars.

The above payment will be paid in a lump sum on the second Thursday in December of each year.

Employees who retire on or after January 1 in a calendar year shall be paid their full longevity increment for the year of retirement. The increment shall be at the amount paid the previous November 30. Employees who resign or who are terminated for cause prior to November 30 of a calendar year shall not be entitled to longevity payment at the time of their resignation or termination for cause.

The above payment will be paid to an employee's beneficiary upon his/her death.

Employees who are not on the payroll due to industrial leave of accident on the second Thursday in December will not receive longevity on that day. They will be entitled to longevity payment when they return from industrial leave and this longevity will be prorated if they have been on industrial accident leave for a total of twenty (20) working days during the twelve months preceding November 30 of each year.

Part-time employees (minimum of twenty (20) hours per week) will receive longevity pay at 50% of the amount issued to full-time employees when paid in December 1997.

ARTICLE XVIII HOLIDAYS

SECTION 1.

The City agrees to provide the following paid holidays:

New Year's Day
Martin Luther King Day
Washington's Birthday
Patriots Day
Memorial Day
Independence Day
Labor Day
Columbus Day
Veterans Day
Thanksgiving Day
Christmas Day

December 26, 1997 shall be a paid holiday for this year only.

SECTION 2.

Employees, except emergency or temporary or intermittent employees who have worked for the City for less than thirty (30) weeks, one hundred fifty (150) days, or twelve hundred (1200) hours in the aggregate prior to the first day of July, who have been employed by the City for thirty (30) days or more shall receive holiday pay at their regular straight time hourly rate for each of said holidays based on their regular hours per day.

SECTION 3.

In addition to the regular holidays stated above, Good Friday afternoon, the half workdays before Christmas and New Year's Day shall be paid half holidays; and said half holidays shall be construed to constitute one-half ($\frac{1}{2}$) the number of hours normally worked on those days at straight time, regardless of actual starting time. The Friday after Thanksgiving shall be considered a holiday but this shall not be premium wage day. If called into work, employees shall receive holiday pay plus pay for any hours worked at straight time. Employees required to work more than one-half ($\frac{1}{2}$) the regular hours shall be paid for such hours at their regular hourly rate in addition to their half holiday pay.

SECTION 4.

When any of the above named holidays occur on an employee's regularly scheduled workday, employees who are required to work on such holidays shall receive holiday pay for such day plus straight time for all hours worked on such day. The Employee may elect a floating holiday in lieu of holiday pay. Use of said floating holiday shall be subject to Department Head approval, e.g. can't use overtime, must use in same fiscal year. Notice of the option by the employee to elect a floating holiday in lieu of holiday pay must be given to the employer prior to submission of the payroll for the week including the holiday. Employees who are not regularly scheduled to work on a holiday and who are called in on said holiday shall receive holiday pay for such day, plus time and one-half (1½) their regular hourly rate, with a minimum of three (3) hours for all hours worked on such day.

SECTION 5.

In the event that a holiday listed in Section 1 falls on a Sunday and is observed and celebrated on a Monday, said Monday shall be construed to be the holiday for purposes of compensating any employee for holiday pay. In the event the holiday falls on a Saturday, the City may, at its option, grant compensatory time in lieu of holiday pay by observing the holiday on the immediately preceding Friday.

SECTION 6.

In order for an employee to receive his holiday pay for the holiday or half holiday, he must work his regular scheduled day before and after the holiday, unless he is on vacation leave or is on a regular scheduled day off. In the event an employee is absent due to illness on the last scheduled workday prior to or after a holiday, eligibility for holiday pay shall be established by the presentation of a doctor's statement certifying the legitimacy of the illness. Employees who have reported for work and actually work for more than one-half (½) their regular hours on the schedule work day before a holiday will not be required to present a certificate for holiday pay eligibility. Employees who are scheduled to work on a holiday and report sick on said holiday shall be entitled to holiday pay only and shall not be paid for a sick day in addition to their holiday pay.

ARTICLE XIX PROTECTION

The City shall hold the employee harmless from any loss or liability arising out of acts resulting in accidental bodily injury to or the death of any person or accidental damage to or destruction of property, provided that, after investigation, it shall appear to the City that such employee was acting within the scope of his employment and provided further than simple or no negligence can be associated with the employee's act. The employee is expected to exercise all reasonable care and precautions to prevent undesirable consequences from arising as a result of the performance of his duties.

If any employee is required by the City to wear protective clothing or any type of protective device, such clothing or device shall be furnished by the City to protect the employee from illness or injuries. The City will provide and maintain work uniforms for Motor or Diesel Equipment Repairmen (five sets), sewer and drain gang, asphalt crew, four employees in the landfill and the Zoo Caretakers (five sets). The foregoing shall not require the City to furnish additional work clothing or other articles of personal wearing apparel, which may be required other than those now being furnished by the City.

The City shall provide an annual physical examination, including x-rays, to Emergency Medical Technicians at no cost to the employees and shall provide CPR training at no cost to the Van Driver in the Veterans' Services Department.

There shall be a joint committee on safety to e composed of two (2) representatives from the City and two (2) union representatives. The committee shall meet quarterly and make recommendations to the Mayor on conditions of health and safety of employees. Under emergency situations, the committee may meet to investigate conditions that are considered to be hazardous to employees.

The City agrees to provide Parking Meter Supervisors (meter maids) and Nurses three hundred fifty (\$350) dollars in allowance in quarterly installments.

EMT clothing allowance is increased from \$300 to \$450 provided the voucher system will be continued within the department.

The City agrees to supply safety glasses at Quittacas. Glasses or dentures broken by an employee in the performance of his job shall be replaced by the City without cost to the employee.

Hazardous Duty – employees who have been certified to perform duties on CERCLA Superfund sites will be paid time and one-half $(1\frac{1}{2})$ of their regular rate of pay for the time in which they perform these duties on a CERCLA site. This does not include confined entry duties.

The City and the Union agree to form a joint labor management committee of four representatives of the City and four representatives of the Union to review provisions of Article XIX related to clothing allowances and supply of uniforms. The committee shall meet monthly

and shall submit its recommendations no later than May 15, 2015 to the Director of Labor Relations and Personnel and the President of Local 851, AFSCME.

ARTICLE XX NO STRIKE

Except for the right to strike, which is prohibited, all other union activities are protected unless they have been or are determined to be illegal by a court of competent jurisdiction or state tribunal.

ARTICLE XXI VACATIONS

On July 1, 2014 any new employee hired in the preceding year shall receive a prorated amount of vacation time based on the time he/she actually worked in the previous year. For example, if an employee is hired in the month of January, he/she shall receive one week of vacation time on July 1. Each full-time employee who has five (5) or more, but less than ten (10) years of service as of June 30 of the fiscal year shall receive fifteen (15) working days of vacation with pay during that fiscal year. Each full-time employee who has ten (10) or more years but less than twenty (20) years of service as of June 30 of the fiscal year shall receive twenty (20) working days of vacation with pay during that fiscal year. Each full time employee who has twenty (20) or more years of service as of June 30 of the fiscal year. Each full-time employee who has twenty-five (25) or more years of service as of June 30 of the fiscal year shall receive twenty-eight (28) working days of vacation with pay during that fiscal year. Each full-time employee who has thirty (30) or more years of service as of June 30 of the fiscal year shall receive thirty (30) working days of vacation with pay during that fiscal year.

Emergency or intermittent employees shall not be eligible for vacation pay regardless of their service.

Employees who have had previous service with the New Bedford School Department and whose employment was based on academic or school year, rather than a calendar year, shall, upon transfer or appointment to permanent employment in another City department, be given credit for such time as they worked in the School Department for purposes of vacation eligibility as follows:

- a. Completion of twelve (12) months of service shall be considered a vacation leave credit and said service shall determine the eligibility for vacation benefits normally attendant upon completion of one (1) calendar year of service for full-time employees.
- b. Completion of sixty (60) months of service shall considered as vacation leave credit and said service shall determine the eligibility for vacation benefits normally attendant upon completion of five (5) calendar years of service for full-time employees.

c. Completion of one hundred twenty (120) months of service shall be considered as vacation leave credit and said service shall determine the eligibility for vacation benefits normally attendant upon completion of ten (10) calendar years of service for full-time employees.

SECTION 2.

Vacation leave earned in any one (1) year shall not be permitted to accumulate or carry over to a succeeding year, except if an employee is ordered or requested to forego or postpone vacation leave in the public interest and thereby is prevented from taking vacation leave in any one year within the period of July 1 to June 30, such employee may be granted compensatory vacation leave during the next year by his/her Appointing Authority or Department Head, if said request is made before expiration of the vacation year and has approval of the Mayor and notification of said request is filed with the City Auditor immediately.

SECTION 3.

A regular part-time employee who is employed on a part-time basis having a minimum of twenty (20) working hours per week and who has completed a full year but less than five (5) years of service as of June 30 of the fiscal year shall be entitled to ten (10) working days of vacation with pay based on the number of part-time hours customarily worked by the employee. Twenty (20) hour part-time employees with five (5) years of service but less than ten (10) years as of June 30 of the fiscal year shall be entitled to fifteen (15) working days with pay based upon the number of part-time hours customarily worked by the employee. Twenty (20) hour part-time employees with ten (10) years of service but less than twenty (20) years as of June 30 of the fiscal year shall be entitled to twenty (20) working days of vacation with pay based upon the number of hours customarily worked by the employee.

Twenty (20) hour part-time employees who have twenty (20) or more years of service as of June 30 of the fiscal year shall be entitled to twenty-five (25) working days of vacation with pay based upon the number of hours customarily worked by the employee.

SECTION 4.

Employees who are eligible for vacation under this Article whose service is terminated by dismissal through no fault or delinquency of their own, by resignation or by retirement, or any entrance into the armed forces, shall be paid the amount equal to the vacation allowance as earned in the vacation year prior to such dismissal, resignation, retirement or entrance into the armed forces, which had not been granted, and in addition, that portion of the vacation allowance earned in the vacation year during which such dismissal, resignation, retirement or entrance into the armed forces occurred, up to the time of separation; provided that no monetary or other allowance has already been made therefore.

SECTION 5.

Employees whose services are terminated through dismissal for cause shall be entitled to salary in lieu of their vacation not taken.

SECTION 6.

Employees who are reinstated or who are re-employed, or who return from a leave of absence without pay shall be entitled to their vacation status at the termination of their previous service and allowed such proportion of their vacation under Section 1 as their actual service bears to full-time for the vacation year. No credit for previous service may be allowed where reinstatement or re-employment occurs after absence of two (2) years.

SECTION 7.

Vacation shall not accrue to an employee absent on industrial accident leave for one year or more.

SECTION 8.

Vacation leave earned following a return to duty after leave of absence without pay shall not be applied against such leave or absence.

SECTION 9.

If an employee is on industrial accident leave and has available vacation credits which have not been used, and who, because of the provisions of Section 2 of this Article, would lose such vacation credits, said employee shall be paid for any vacation time that is outstanding at the end of a fiscal year or shall be allowed to apply to the Mayor to carry over that vacation time to a succeeding year.

SECTION 10.

Upon the death of an employee who is eligible for vacation leave under the provisions of this Article, payment shall be made in an amount equal to the vacation allowance as earned in the vacation year prior to the employee's death, but which had not been granted, and in addition, that portion of the vacation allowance earned in the vacation year during which the employee died up to the time of the separation from the payroll; provided that no monetary or other allowance has already been made therefore.

SECTION 11.

Absences on account of sickness in excess of that authorized under sick leave regulations may, at the option of the employee, be charged to vacation leave.

SECTION 12.

The City shall issue vacation slips to employees no later than the third week of February each calendar year. Wherever practicable, vacation will be given at the time most desired by the employee, who will be permitted to indicate his choice by order of seniority, provided he does so by April 1 in each calendar year. When all requests have been received and approved, the vacation schedule listing the employee's name and the vacation periods granted shall be posted in each department by May 1 of each year. The head of each department, however, reserves the right to schedule vacations or limit the number of weeks in the current year at such time, in his/her opinion, as will cause the least interference with the performance of regular work and will not cause additional expense. Employees shall retain the right to change previously approved vacation periods if they so choose, and such changes may be approved, provided they do not impair departmental efficiency or departmental operations or cause additional expense. Once the vacation schedule has been posted, however, any employee wishing to change his vacation period may select from among any of the open periods thereof subject to the two preceding sentences. He may also select a period already chosen by another employee provided such choice does not exceed the number of employees who can be spared at that time nor shall he be allowed to select a period which would force an employee with less seniority to forego his approved vacation period. No employee whose vacation selection has been approved and posted shall be required to cancel such selection in order to accommodate a vacation change requested by an employee with greater seniority.

SECTION 13.

No employee shall be granted vacation leave until he/she is eligible therefore under the provisions of this Article. Vacation leave shall not be granted in anticipation of service, provided that an employee may commence his vacation prior to July 1 if said vacation time extends beyond July1 of the vacation year.

SECTION 14.

The rate of pay for any employee while on the status of vacation leave shall be the rate of pay for the primary classification of such employee. For those employees having a secondary classification, the rate of pay shall be based on the classification in which the employee actually worked, exclusive of overtime, for a minimum of twelve hundred (1200) hours in the aggregate during the twelve (12) months preceding the first day of July of the vacation year.

SECTION 15.

Nothing herein shall be construed as restricting an employee from requesting individual vacation days on short notice, provided that in the opinion of the Department Head, departmental operations are not thereby hindered. Vacation shall not be taken in less than one hour increments.

ARTICLE XXII BULLETIN BOARDS

The City shall permit access to or maintain boards in the main lobby of City Hall, the offices of the Water Works, Pumping Station, Department of Public Works yard, Park Offices, Cemetery Office, City Garage, Municipal Airport, Main Library and its branches, City Hall Annex, and such other locations at which City employees begin and end their shifts for the posting of notices concerning union business and actions of the certified bargaining representative.

Bulletin boards shall be maintained in all the appropriate places where employees generally report for duty.

ARTICLE XXIII SPECIAL PROVISIONS APPLYING TO PROFESSIONAL EMPLOYEES COVERED BY AGREEMENT

SECTION 1.

Professional employees covered by this Agreement, may, with the Mayor's approval, be given leave without loss of pay for the purpose of attending a meeting or seminar, which pertains to their field of work. Employees attending such a meeting or seminar with the Mayor's approval shall be entitled to reimbursement of expenses.

SECTION 2.

Each professional employee covered by this Agreement shall be entitled, with the approval of the Mayor, to receive a leave of absence without pay and benefits for the purpose of furthering his/her education in his/her field of work.

SECTION 3.

The Supervisor of Nurses and the Supervising Laboratory Technician shall be entitled to reimbursement of dues paid for membership in professional organizations related to their field of endeavor, provided that such reimbursement has been approved, in writing, by the Mayor.

SECTION 4.

Whenever notices of courses of study, educational seminars, or other programs of similar nature have been approved by the Mayor which professional employees are expected or required to participate or attend in order to maintain proficiency and/or qualifications, such notices shall be posted in a conspicuous place. All employee affected thereby shall be given equal opportunity to take advantage of same. Such opportunity shall be allowed without regard to whether employee participation is to be on City time or the employee's time.

SECTION 5.

Upon recommendation of the Department Head and approval of the Mayor, a professional permanent employee may be granted tuition reimbursement. The employee must

enroll in a program, which in the judgment of the Mayor will lead to an appropriate degree or improved professional competence. Reimbursement will be for 50% of the course cost, not to exceed two (2) courses per school term. Prior to reimbursement, satisfactory completion of each course must be submitted where authorization for payment has been made. The stipend will be limited by budget appropriation.

SECTION 6.

The City agrees to reimburse an employee to a maximum of \$100 per year for the cost of courses approved by the Office of Emergency Medical Services (OEMS), Health Department, Commonwealth of Massachusetts, provided the courses are not offered by the City towards the employee's recertification under the requirements for additional continuing educational activities. Prior to reimbursement, the employee shall provide evidence that he/she has satisfactorily completed the course. Notwithstanding the provisions for reimbursement in this section, the City reserves the right to offer courses and programs for the necessary additional continuing educational activities to meet recertification requirements and to require employees to participate in said courses or programs in lieu of employees being reimbursed for courses.

Recertification Classes – the City will provide, at no cost to the employee, continuing education credits (24 hours for EMT's, 28 hours for EMT-I's over a two year period), annual CPR recertification and a 21 hour refresher course for EMT's with a 12 hour add-on for EMT-I's as per the current State Office of Emergency Medical Services requirement. (Refresher course will be held once in a two-year recertification period).

No compensation shall be paid for the above training in consideration of it being provided at no cost to the employee if such training occurs at a time in which the employee is not scheduled to work. The Union and Director of EMS will establish a training schedule for CPR training to be conducted during working hours.

SECTION 7.

The regular hours of the Nurses and Lead Inspectors shall be forty (40) hours per week.

The regular hours of Paramedics shall be forty (40) hours per week in accordance with the schedule established on June 29, 2014. See Attachment B.

SECTION 8.

FITNESS FOR DUTY

- a. EMS employees are expected to keep themselves in a physical, mental, and emotional condition as required to safely, properly, and effectively perform their duties and responsibilities contained within the respective job description.
- b. In the event the EMS supervisor through observation and/or other information makes a determination that the EMS employee does not meet the criteria stated in

- 8(a) above he or she may place the employee on sick leave until such time as the employee provides satisfactory medical documentation supporting his or her fitness to return to full duty.
- c. Nothing in this section shall prohibit the City from exercising its rights under the American with Disabilities Act to require an EMS employee to undergo a medical or psychological evaluation if the City reasonably believes that the employee is having medical or mental health issues that may affect his or her job or the safety of the employee and/or the public.

ARTICLE XXIV WATER DEPARTMENT CERTIFICATION REQUIREMENTS

SECTION 1.

In order to insure the proper management operation and maintenance of public water systems, the Commonwealth requires employees to hold certificates issued by the Board of Certification of Operators of Drinking Water Supply Facilities. These certificates are issued in accordance with the demonstrated skill, knowledge, experience and character of the operator. Under State regulations, the person with the responsibility for, or having active field supervision of, distribution and/or treatment activities must hold an appropriate certificate issued by the Board under 236 CMR 4.00 through 5.01. This includes requirements for certificate renewals through the accumulation of Training Contract Hours.

SECTION 2.

Employees who are required to be certified and who currently have their certification must renew their certification in accordance with 236 CMR 4.07. Employees who have an expired or invalid certification because of the failure to renew their certification are subject to the penalties expressed in 236 CMR 4.07(4) and will be removed from their positions. If the employee holds a permanent title and is on a leave of absence from that title, he/she will be returned to his/her permanent title if he/she is not properly certified at the proper grade in accordance with his/her job classification. Otherwise, the employee is subject to discharge.

SECTION 3.

The following options are established to assist in the acquisition and maintenance of certifications:

- a. The Superintendent of Water may establish State-approved in-house training as a means of complying with State renewal requirements for Training Contract Hours (TCH).
- b. The Superintendent of Water may require employees to attend training programs offered by Federal and State agencies and manufacturers that are or may become

available. Employees required to attend such courses by the Superintendent during non-scheduled working hours shall be paid time and one-half $(1\frac{1}{2})$ of regular hourly rate of pay for the employee.

c. Employees may elect to secure certification renewal credits (TCH) required by State regulations by attending courses or seminars. Courses and seminars for which an employee is enrolled on their own will be subject to full tuition reimbursement.

Requests for tuition reimbursement must be submitted and approved by the Superintendent of Water prior to enrolling for any course. Courses and programs eligible for reimbursement must, in the Superintendent's opinion, be relevant to the employee's present job and/or qualify for TCH credit.

The amount of tuition reimbursement for approved job-related courses will be at 100% provided the employee passes the course and provides verification of a passing grade (if applicable).

No reimbursement will be paid for courses commenced prior to the execution of this Agreement.

To apply for reimbursement, employees must complete a Tuition Reimbursement Application and obtain prior approval through the signature of the Superintendent.

To receive reimbursement, employees must submit a copy of the application, their official grade record or certificate and canceled checks to the Superintendent.

Tuition reimbursement will be made only for the actual cost of the course tuition, books and registration and does not include transportation costs or other attendance fees.

ARTICLE XXV MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, the City retains all right of management, including the right to direct employees, to hire, classify, promote, train, transfer, assign and retain employees and to suspend, demote, discharge or take other disciplinary action against employees for just cause; to relieve employees from duty because of lack of work, lack of funds, or for causes beyond the City's control; to provide uniforms and equipment when required, to determine organization and budget, to maintain the efficiency of the operations entrusted to the City and to determine the methods, technology, means and personnel by which such operations are to be conducted, including contracting and subcontracting; similarly, to take whatever action may be necessary regardless of prior commitments to carry out the responsibilities of the City in an emergency or any unforeseen combination of circumstances which calls for immediate action. The City and its management officials have the right to make reasonable rules and regulations pertaining to employees consistent with this Agreement. The City agrees, however, pursuant to the above, that whenever it wishes to transfer an employee from a position identified under Unit

C of said plan, it will notify the Union at least thirty (30) days before such transfer is planned to take place.

When a new position is to be established by the City within the scope of Units A or B of the above-mentioned Classification and Compensation Plan, the City agrees to notify the Union of its intent prior to the establishment of said position, for the purpose of negotiating hours, wages and such other working conditions as may be required after consultation with the Union.

ARTICLE XXVI CONTRACT PROVISIONS

The parties agree that all negotiable items have been discussed during the negotiations leading to this Agreement, and therefore, agree that negotiations will not be reopened on any item, whether contained herein or not, during the life of this Agreement. All terms and conditions of employment not covered nor abridged by this Agreement shall continue to be subject to the City's exclusive direction and control, and shall not be subject to negotiation during the life of this Agreement. The City shall reimburse the Union for fifty (50%) percent of the cost of printing and make available to the Personnel Department one hundred (100) copies of the contract.

This Agreement cannot be changed, altered or modified, except in writing, signed by both parties, which writing shall be considered as an addendum to this Agreement.

ARTICLE XXVII WORKING OUT OF CLASSIFICATION

Whenever an employee covered by this Agreement is required by a Department Head or his designee in writing or under standard operating procedures to perform the duties normally performed by an employee of a higher grade or classification in his/her department for more than four (4) hours in any given shift, said employee shall be paid at the higher grade and at the next step rate above his/her current position. Employees may elect to refuse to perform duties in a higher classification.

ARTICLE XXVIII MISCELLANEOUS ARTICLE

The Employer will reimburse the employees for special license fees used in the performance of his/her job. Nurses, Journeyman Electrician, Master Electrician, Journeyman Plumber, Master Plumber, Master Gas Fitter, Elevator Operator, Treatment Plant Operator, Backhoe Operator, Emergency Medical Technicians, Reg. of Sanitarians and Fireman.

A. An employee not otherwise scheduled to work who is a witness on behalf of the Commonwealth in a criminal matter pending in any Court of the Commonwealth, as approved by his or her department head or who is required by official summons or subpoena to testify on matters which are related to his/her official duties shall be

entitled to and shall receive compensation for all hours in attendance, with a minimum of three (3) hours at a time and one-half of his/her rate of pay.

- B. An employee not otherwise scheduled to work who attends as a witness on behalf of the City in a matter pending before any Court or administrative body of the Commonwealth, as approved by his or her department head, shall receive compensation for all hours in attendance, with a minimum of three (3) hours at a time and one-half of his/her rate of pay.
- C. It shall be the policy of the City to recommend to the person who requests that an employee appear in any Civil Court or Agency Hearing in the Commonwealth in any matter related to his or her department or to the performance of his/her duties shall be paid by the person making the request which payment shall be no less than his/her regular rate of pay.

All members of the bargaining unit are subject to CORI screening in accordance with the agreement attached hereto effective on the date of execution of the collective bargaining agreement. See Attachment C.

ARTICLE XXIX PERFORMANCE EVALUATION

SECTION 1.

In accordance with the provisions of Chapter 767 of the Acts of 1981, there shall be established a performance evaluation system for all employees covered by this Agreement.

SECTION 2.

All employee evaluations shall be in writing and shall be included in the employee's official personnel file.

SECTION 3.

Evaluations shall be completed by the employee's immediate supervisor and approved by the employee's Department Head or designee.

SECTION 4.

Formal evaluations shall be completed at least once per year for each employee but not more than twice per year.

SECTION 5.

Prior to each evaluation period, the supervisor shall meet with the employee and shall inform him/her of the general performance dimensions and procedures to be utilized in evaluating the employee's performance.

SECTION 6.

At the mid-point in the evaluation period, the supervisor shall meet with the employee to review the employee's progress.

SECTION 7.

At the end of the evaluation period, the supervisor shall meet with the employee and inform the employee of the results of the evaluation. The employee shall sign the evaluation and indicate whether he/she agrees or disagrees with the evaluation. If the employee does not agree with the evaluation, he/she has 48 working hours to sign with comments.

SECTION 8.

On or before January 1, 1992, there shall be established a joint labor-management committee of not more than six (6) representatives consisting of three (3) representatives of the City and three (3) from Local 851, AFSCME, to develop an objective and job-related evaluation format for discussion and review.

SECTION 9.

Any employee, who, as a result of an evaluation pursuant to this Agreement, receives an overall rating of "Requires Improvement", shall have the right to grieve said rating through Step 3 of the grievance procedures. In the event the employee is not satisfied with the grievance response, the employee may file, through Local 851, AFSCME, a request for review of the Step 3 determination. This review shall be conducted by a triparte panel, one person designated by the Director of Labor Relations and Personnel and one person by Local 851, AFSCME, who shall select a third person. In the event the parties are unable to agree, the American Arbitration Association shall be requested to submit a panel of arbitrators pursuant to the rules of the Association.

SECTION 10.

The standard of review to be applied by the panel shall be whether the evaluation rating is arbitrary or discriminatory or whether it is clearly erroneous. The decision of the panel shall be final and binding. The cost of arbitration shall be shared equally between the City and Local 851, AFSCME.

SECTION 11.

The appeal procedures provided in this Agreement shall not be available to any employee who elects to appeal his/her evaluation rating under the provisions of G.L. Chapter 31, Section 6C.

ARTICLE XXX LABOR-MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

SECTION 1.

In order to provide a means for continuing communications between the parties and for promoting a climate of constructive employee relations, a City-wide Labor-Management Committee shall be established which shall consist of no more than four (4) representatives designated by the Employer and no more than four (4) representatives designated by the Union.

SECTION 2.

The Committee shall meet at least quarterly. Such meeting shall not be for the purpose of discussing pending grievances or for the purpose of conducting negotiations on any subject. The topics discussed shall relate to the general application of this Agreement and to other matters of mutual concern, including improvement of employer/employee relations, health and safety, and improvement of productivity.

ARTICLE XXXI RESIDENCY

Every person first employed by the City of New Bedford on or after September 1, 1978 in the bargaining unit shall be a resident of the City of New Bedford. An employee subject to this residency policy who has completed three (3) full years (36 months) of full or equivalent part-time service with the City of New Bedford may reside in the following towns: Dartmouth, Fairhaven, Acushnet, Freetown, Westport, Lakeville, Rochester and Mattapoisett.

ARTICLE XXXII EMERGENCY TELECOMMUNICATIONS DISPATCHERS (E-911 TELECOMMUNICATIONS)

SECTION 1.

The hours of the work shall be the following:

A-Relief 12am-8am B-Relief 8am-4pm C-Relief 4pm-12am

SECTION 2.

Each of the three reliefs will be divided, by the City, into six (6) groups for the purposes of days off so that each group will work four (4) consecutive days and thereafter be off for two (2) consecutive days in a rotating basis. This four and two (4 and 2) schedule will be patterned after the schedule of New Bedford police officers; and the assignment to the individual groups will be the responsibility of the Chief or his designee.

SECTION 3.

Emergency Telecommunications Dispatchers shall be eligible to swap relief provided it occurs within the same pay period with approval of the Chief of Police or his/her designee. A failure to work a swap may subject the dispatcher to discipline. In the event failure to work a swap for a second time eligibility shall be suspended permanently.

ARTICLE XXXIII DRUG TESTING

DRUG/ALCOHOL TESTING

- 1. All CDL employees shall be subject to drug and alcohol testing under policies adopted by the City (see attached).
- 2. All employees hired after the signing of this contract who operate motor vehicles on a regular basis as a condition of employment shall be subject to the above-referenced policy.
- 3. All employees hired before the signing of this contract who operate motor vehicles on a regular basis as a condition of employment who have been involved in a motor vehicle accident in which the City has been held liable or has settled a claim shall be subject to drug and alcohol testing on the basis of reasonable suspicion or cause for twenty-four (24) consecutive months from the date of payment.
 - A driver shall submit to testing, upon reasonable cause, when requested to do so by the City.
 - The conduct must be witnessed by at least two supervisors and/or a witness, if feasible. If not feasible, only one supervisor or witness need witness the conduct. The witness or witnesses must have received training in the identification of actions, appearance or conduct of a driver, which are indicative of the use of a controlled substance or alcohol.
 - The documentation of the driver's conduct shall be prepared and signed by the witnesses within twenty-four (24) hours of the observed behavior or before the results of the test are released, whichever is earlier.

- "Reasonable or suspicious cause" means that the City believes that the actions, appearance or conduct of an on-duty driver are indicative of the use of a controlled substance or alcohol. The witness(es) must directly observe the behavior. Hearsay or second-hand information is not sufficient cause to require a driver to submit to a drug/alcohol test.
- Once a reasonable or suspicious cause determination is made, it is the responsibility of the City to assure that the driver under suspicion is transported to a specimen collection site to provide a urine sample.

ARTICLE XXXIV TERM AND EFFECT OF AGREEMENT

This Agreement shall be in full force and effect for the term beginning the first day of July 2013 and ending the thirtieth day of June 2016. It shall continue in effect from year to year thereafter unless either party shall notify the other in writing at least sixty (60) days prior to the end of the term, or at least sixty (60) days prior to the end of any subsequent yearly period, that it desires to modify this Agreement. In the event that such notice is given, negotiations shall begin not later than thirty (30) days prior to the end of the yearly term then in effect; this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect during the period of negotiations and until notice of termination of this Agreement is provided to the other party in the manner set forth in the following paragraph:

In the event that either party desires to terminate the Agreement, written notice must be given the other party not less than ten (10) days prior to the desired termination date, which date shall not be before the end of the last completed yearly term of this Agreement.

In the event that any Article or Provision of this Agreement conflicts with the provisions of any statute or law of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, the latter shall prevail unless otherwise provided in Chapter 150E.

In the event that any Article or Provision of this Agreement conflicts with the provisions of any ordinance, department rule or regulations, or executive order of the City of New Bedford, said Article or Provision of this Agreement shall be given effect during the term of this Agreement.

In every instance in which a particular condition of employment is not specifically dealt with and covered by this Agreement, the ordinance, rule, regulation, practice or custom governing or effective with regard to said condition of employment as of the date of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect. Should any provision of this Agreement be found to be in violation of any Federal or State law, or Civil Service Rule by a court of competent jurisdiction, all other provisions of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect for the duration of this Agreement.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused these present to be signed by their duly authorized representatives on April 6, 2015.

AFSCME, Council 93, Local 851 By:

Mark Messier, Union President

AFSCME Representative

CITY OF NEW BEDFORD

By:

Jonathan F. Mitchell, Mayor

Arthur J. Caron, Jr., Special Counsel

AFSCME SALARY SCHEDULE

JULY 1, 2013

GRADE	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
1	\$11.55	\$12.23	\$12.88	\$13.56	\$14.24	\$14.92	\$15.92
2	\$11.72	\$12.41	\$13.12	\$13.83	\$14.54	\$15.24	\$16.27
3	\$11.92	\$12.69	\$13.41	\$14.14	\$14.90	\$15.63	\$16.70
4	\$12.21	\$12.95	\$13.72	\$14.51	\$15.27	\$16.05	\$17.14
5	\$12.46	\$13.26	\$14.09	\$14.90	\$15.74	\$16.53	\$17.72
6	\$12.84	\$13.69	\$14.54	\$15.39	\$16.24	\$17.12	\$18.33
7	\$13.21	\$14.10	\$15.04	\$15.95	\$16.87	\$17.80	\$19.09
8	\$13.67	\$14.63	\$15.60	\$16.58	\$17.57	\$18.53	\$19.93
9	\$14.16	\$15.23	\$16.26	\$17.34	\$18.37	\$19.42	\$20.90
10	\$14.78	\$15.89	\$17.03	\$18.19	\$19.31	\$20.47	\$22.05
11	\$15.40	\$16.64	\$17.90	\$19.13	\$20.37	\$21.60	\$23.30
12	\$16.19	\$17.54	\$18.88	\$20.23	\$21.58	\$22.94	\$24.79

AFSCME SALARY SCHEDULE (1.5%)

JULY 1, 2014

GRADE	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
1	\$11.72	\$12.41	\$13.07	\$13.76	\$14.45	\$15.14	\$16.16
2	\$11.90	\$12.60	\$13.32	\$14.04	\$14.76	\$15.47	\$16.51
3	\$12.10	\$12.88	\$13.61	\$14.35	\$15.12	\$15.86	\$16.95
4	\$12.39	\$13.14	\$13.93	\$14.73	\$15.50	\$16.29	\$17.40
5	\$12.65	\$13.46	\$14.30	\$15.12	\$15.98	\$16.78	\$17.99
6	\$13.03	\$13.90	\$14.76	\$15.62	\$16.48	\$17.38	\$18.60
7	\$13.41	\$14.31	\$15.27	\$16.19	\$17.12	\$18.07	\$19.38
8	\$13.88	\$14.85	\$15.83	\$16.83	\$17.83	\$18.81	\$20.23
9	\$14.37	\$15.46	\$16.50	\$17.60	\$18.65	\$19.71	\$21.21
10	\$15.00	\$16.13	\$17.29	\$18.46	\$19.60	\$20.78	\$22.38
11	\$15.63	\$16.89	\$18.17	\$19.42	\$20.68	\$21.92	\$23.65
12	\$16.43	\$17.80	\$19.16	\$20.53	\$21.90	\$23.28	\$25.16

AFSCME SALARY SCHEDULE (1.5%)

JULY 1, 2015

GRADE	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
1	\$11.90	\$12.60	\$13.27	\$13.97	\$14.67	\$15.37	\$16.40
2	\$12.07	\$12.79	\$13.52	\$14.25	\$14.98	\$15.70	\$16.76
3	\$12.28	\$13.07	\$13.82	\$14.57	\$15.35	\$16.10	\$17.20
4	\$12.58	\$13.34	\$14.13	\$14.95	\$15.73	\$16.54	\$17.66
5	\$12.84	\$13.66	\$14.52	\$15.35	\$16.22	\$17.03	\$18.26
6	\$13.23	\$14.10	\$14.98	\$15.86	\$16.73	\$17.64	\$18.88
7	\$13.61	\$14.53	\$15.49	\$16.43	\$17.38	\$18.34	\$19.67
8	\$14.08	\$15.07	\$16.07	\$17.08	\$18.10	\$19.09	\$20.53
9	\$14.59	\$15.69	\$16 .75	\$17.86	\$18.93	\$20.01	\$21,53
10	\$15.23	\$16.37	\$17.54	\$18.74	\$19.89	\$21.09	\$22.72
11	\$15.87	\$17.14	\$18.44	\$19.71	\$20.99	\$22.25	\$24.00
12	\$16.68	\$18.07	\$19.45	\$20.84	\$22.23	\$23.63	\$25.54

AFSCME SALARY SCHEDULE (1.25%)

JUNE 30, 2016

GRADE	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
1	\$12.05	\$12.76	\$13.44	\$14.14	\$14.85	\$15.56	\$16.61
2	\$12.23	\$12.94	\$13.69	\$14.43	\$15.17	\$15.90	\$16.97
3	\$12.43	\$13.24	\$13.99	\$14.75	\$15.54	\$16.30	\$17.42
4	\$12.74	\$13.51	\$14.31	\$15.14	\$15.93	\$16.74	\$17.88
5	\$13.00	\$13.83	\$14.70	\$15.54	\$16.42	\$17.24	\$18.48
6	\$13.39	\$14.28	\$15.17	\$16.05	\$16.94	\$17.86	\$19.12
7	\$13.78	\$14.71	\$15.69	\$16.64	\$17.60	\$18.57	\$19.91
8	\$14.26	\$15.26	\$16.27	\$17.29	\$18.33	\$19.33	\$20.79
9	\$14.77	\$15.89	\$16.96	\$18.09	\$19.16	\$20.26	\$21.80
10	\$15.42	\$16.57	\$17.76	\$18.97	\$20.14	\$21.35	\$23.00
11	\$16.06	\$17.36	\$18.67	\$19.95	\$21.25	\$22.53	\$24.30
12	\$16.89	\$18.30	\$19.69	\$21.10	\$22.51	\$23.93	\$25.86

Paramedic Work Schedule Effective June 29, 2014

Paramedics shall work a forty (40) hour schedule per week between Sunday and Saturday made up of an eight (8) hour shift and two sixteen (16) hour shifts. The A shift shall be from midnight to 8:00 AM, the B shift from 8:00 AM to 4:00 PM and the C shift from 4:00 PM to midnight as represented by the following examples of typical schedules for employees as selected by the employees and their assignment to apparatus:

·	A	В	C	D	E	F	G
Sunday	Off	Off	Off	M1	Off	Off	Off
				A&C			011
Monday	Off	Off	M2	M1	Off	Off	M2
			В	A&C			A&C
Tuesday	M2	M4	M2	M1	M1	M2	M2
	В	B&C	B&C	Α	A&B	A&C	A
Wednesday	M2	M4	M2	Off	M1	M2	Off
	A&B	B&C	B&C		A&B	Α	
Thursday	M2	M4	Off	Off	M1	M2	M2
	A&B	В			Α	A&B	C
Friday	Off	Off	Off	Off	Off	Off	M2
							A
Saturday	Off						
	Employee						
	1	2	3	4	5	6	7

In witness whereof the Union and City have caused this Agreement to be signed by their duly authorized representatives on this day of 2015.

AFSCME, Local 851, Council 93

City of New Bedford

Mark Messier, President

Debra Norcross

Mark MeGraw, EMS Director

Steven Arruda, Assistant EMS Director

AGREEMENT CORI CHECKS

This agreement is entered into on <u>Opa lo</u>, 2015 by and between the City of New Bedford and Local 851, Council 93, AFSCME.

WHEREAS the City of New Bedford is authorized by DCJIS and M.G.L. Chapter 6, Section 172 to conduct criminal history screening of prospective and current employees, subcontractors, volunteers and interns; and

WHEREAS M.G.L. Chapter 150E, Section 6 requires the employer to bargain about terms and conditions of employment.

NOW THEREFORE in consideration of the promises contained herein, the City and Local 851 AFSCME hereby agree to the following terms and conditions:

- 1. All members of the bargaining unit are subject to CORI screening in the following categories:
 - The City may receive CORI pertaining to conviction and pending criminal case data for the purpose of screening current and otherwise qualified prospective paramedic staff and volunteers who transport the infirm, deal directly with patients and/or distribute narcotics.
 - The City may access and receive conviction and pending case CORI for the
 purpose of screening current or otherwise qualified prospective staff who may
 enter private residences while on municipal business and/or have the opportunity
 for direct contact with children, disabled persons, or the elderly, such as parks,
 recreational facilities.
 - The City may access and receive conviction and pending case CORI for the purpose of screening current or otherwise qualified prospective staff of the library who may have direct and unmonitored contact with children.
 - The City may access information on employees in municipal departments who provide medical, psychological and/or rehabilitative services and may receive CORI pertaining to conviction and pending criminal case data for the purpose of screening current and otherwise qualified prospective professionals, staff and volunteers who have the potential for unmonitored access to clients/patients and confidential records.

- 2. CORI check cannot take place unless the employee signs the required CORI Acknowledgement Form. If an employee refuses to sign the form, he/she will be subject to disciplinary action up to and including dismissal. The Union will be notified, and a meeting will take place to try and resolve the issue, however, the City reserves the right to take whatever steps deemed necessary to comply with the law in this regard.
- 3. The personnel who are authorized to request, access and review CORI are the Personnel Director and the CORI Clerk. It may, on occasion be necessary for a member of the Personnel Department clerical staff to access CORI information in the absence of the CORI Clerk, all of whom have been trained in accordance with law. A trained, designated Assistant City Solicitor may also review CORI.
- 4. Procedures to be followed when the subject of a CORI check challenges the accuracy of the CORI are as follows: (a) the employee will be provided with a copy of the CORI and is responsible to check his/her CORI information; (b) it will then be the responsibility of the individual to challenge the information directly to the DCJIS.
- 5. CORI checks will be kept in a secure file in the Personnel Department, separate from the personnel file.
- 6. Under circumstances where the results of the CORI calls into question an employee's suitability for continued employment, the individual, with union representation, will meet with the Personnel Director or her designee to determine continued employment in accordance with the attached CORI Policy.
- 7. Unless otherwise provided by law, factors considered in determining suitability may include, but not be limited to, the following:
 - (a) Relevance of the record to the positions;
 - (b) The nature of the work;
 - (c) time since the conviction;
 - (d) Age at the time of the offense;
 - (e) Seriousness and specific circumstances of the offense;
 - (f) The number of offenses;
 - (g) Whether the employee has pending charges;
 - (h) Any relevant evidence of rehabilitation or lack thereof; and
 - (i) Any other relevant information, including information submitted by the employee.

The employee is to be notified of the decision and the basis for it in a timely manner.

8. CORI is not subject to the public records law and may not be disseminated to unauthorized persons. CORI may always be shared with the individuals to whom it pertains.

Executed in duplicate as an instrument under seal on the date and year herein set forth.

AFSCME, Local 851 Council 93

City of New Bedford

tchell, Mayor

CITY OF NEW BEDFORD POSITION GRADE STRUCTURE

ATTACHMENT D

GRADE	TITLE
1	LABORER
1	WATCHPERSON
-	WATCH ERSON
2	DISPATCHER
2	PARKING LOT ATTENDANT
2	PARKING LOT CASHIER
3	BUILDING CUSTODIAN
4	CASHIER
4	CEMETERY MAINTENANCE WORKER
4	GARAGE ATTENDANT
4	MEO
4	OFFICE MACHINE OPERATOR
4	PARK MAINTENANCE WORKER
4	PARKING SUPERVISOR
4	PUMP STATION ATTENDANT
4	TELEPHONE OPERATOR
4	TRAFFIC MAINTENANCE WORKER
4	VAN DRIVER
4	WATER METER INSTALLER
4	WATER SERVICE INSPECTOR
4	WATER SYSTEM MAINT. WORKER
5	ASST. MEDICAL RECORDS LIBRARIAN
5	ASST. STOREKEEPER
5	BOOKMOBILE DRIVER/CLERK
5	CLERK & STENO
5	CLERK & TYPIST
5	DOG OFFICER
5	LIBRARY AIDE I
5	LIBRARY AIDE II
5	PARK METER REPAIRMAN
5	PLUMBER'S HELPER
5	PUBLIC HEALTH AIDE
5	SENIOR BUILDING CUSTODIAN
5	SPRAYER OPERATOR
5	TIME & CONSTRUCTION CLERK
5	TREE CLIMBER
5	WATER METER REPAIRMAN

5	WATER RESERVOIR CARETAKER
6	AIRPORT MAINTENANCE PERSON
6	ASSISTANT RECREATION LEADER
6	HEAVY MEO (MEO II)
6	LIBRARY ASSISTANT I
6	MAINTENANCE PERSON DPW
6	MOTOR EQUIPMENT LUBRICATOR
6	VET TECHNICIAN
6	WATER WORKS UTILITY MAN
6	ZOO CARETAKER
7	ACCOUNT CLERK
7	AIRPORT MNT. WRKR. CRASH CREWMAN
7	BOOKKEEPER
7	DATA ENTRY CLERK
7	GARDNER
7	MOTOR EQUIPMENT MNT. PERSON
7	PIPEFITTER
7	RECREATION LEADER (ALL OTHERS)
7	SENIOR CASHIER
7	SENIOR CLERK
7	SENIOR MEDICAL RECORDS LIBRARIAN
7	SENIOR TIME & CONSTRUCTION CLERK
7	SEWAGE PLANT MNT. PERSON
7	TREATMENT PLANT ATTENDANT
8	BUILDING MAINTENANCE CRAFTSMAN
8	BUILDING MAINTENANCE PERSON
8	CARPENTER
8	CODE ENFORCEMENT INSPECTOR
8	CROSS CONNECTION INSP & PIPEFITTER
8	DRAFTSPERSON
8	EMERG. DISPATCHER TELECOMMUNICATIONS
8	HEAD WATER SERVICE INSPECTOR
8	HOISTING EQUIPMENT OPERATOR
8	JR. ENGINEERING AIDE
8	MECHANICAL EQUIPMENT REPAIR
8	RECREATION LEADER (ATHLETICS)
8	SANITARY INSPECT
8	SECRETARY
8	SENIOR ACCOUNT CLERK
8	SENIOR CENTER COORDINATOR
8	SIGNAL MAINTAINER
8	VETERANS' BENEFITS INVESTIGATOR

8	WATER WORKS CRAFTSMAN WEIGH CLERK
9	ASSISTANT WIRE INSPECTOR
9	CLAIMS AGENT
9	COMPUTER OPERATOR
9	GREENHOUSE GARDNER
9	HEAD ADMIN. CLERK
9	HEAD CLERK
9	LAB TECH
9	LEAD PAINT INSPECTOR
9	METAL BODY WORKER & SPRAYPAINTER
9	MOTOR EQUIPMENT REPAIRMAN
9	PLUMBING & GASFITTING INSPECTOR
9	PRINCIPAL CLERK
9	SENIOR ENGINEERING AIDE
9	SPECIAL MEO 1A
9	STOREKEEPER
9	TREATMENT PLANT OPERATOR
9	WATER MACHINE REPAIRMAN
9	WATER TREATMENT PLANT OPERATOR
10	DIESEL ENGINE REPAIRMAN
10	EMT
10	EMT I
10	FORESTRY FOREMAN
10	LIBRARY ASSISTANT II
10	MASON
10	RECREATION LEADER GOLDEN AGE
10 10	SANITARIAN
10	SENIOR PLUMBING & GAS FITTING INSPECTOR
10	SEWAGE PLANT REPAIRMAN
10	TREATMENT PLAN CHEMIST WELDER/FABRICATOR
10	WORKING FOREMAN
11	COMPUTER OPER. SUPPORT SPECIALIST
11	ELECTRICIAN
11	JR. CIVIL ENGINEER
11	LIBRARY ASSISTANT II PROGRAM/PR
11 11	PLUMBER (JOURNEYMAN)
11	PLUMBER (MASTER)
11	PUBLIC HEALTH NURSE

11 11 11 11	SENIOR CODE ENFORCEMENT INSP. SUPERVISING LAB TECHNICIAN T.B. CLINIC NURSE WORKING FOREMAN MOTOR & DIESEL ENG REP
12	ANIMAL INSPECTOR/CONTROL OFFICER
12	ASSISTANT CIVIL ENGINEER
12	ASSISTANT SUPVSR. OF SOLID WASTE
12	ASSISTANT VETERAN'S AGENT
12	BENEFIT ANALYST
12	BUILDING INSPECTOR
12	CEMETERY FOREMAN
12	LIBRARY ASSISTANT TO DIRECTOR
12	PARAMEDIC
12	PARK KEEPER
12	PROJECT COORD./TITLE EXAMINER
12	SENIOR EMT
12	SENIOR EMT I
12	SEWAGE DISPOSAL SYST. MAINT. FOREMAN
12	STREET & SEWER CONSTRUCTION FOREMAN
12	SUPERVISOR OF METER SERVICES
12	WATER CONSTRUCTION FOREMAN

AGREEMENT

between the

CITY OF NEW BEDFORD

and

AMERICAN FEDERATION
OF
STATE, COUNTY
AND
MUNICIPAL EMPLOYEES
AFL-CIO

STATE COUNCIL 93 LOCAL 851

July 1, 2016 – June 30, 2019

This Agreement between City of New Bedford, hereinafter referred to as the "City" and Local 851, Unit A, State Council 93, American Federation of State, County and Municipal Employees, AFL-CIO, hereinafter referred to as the "Union" is a product of the collective bargaining between the parties and is executed by their authorized representatives as a supplement to and as an amendment in part to the prior collective bargaining agreement between the parties.

6.

It is agreed by the City and the Union that all provisions of their prior contract neither expressly amended nor expressly deleted by this Agreement are renewed, incorporated into, and made part of this Agreement for all purposes.

"Article" identification and reference in this Agreement reflect the subject matter of the parties' prior contract except to the extent new articles and subject matter are included in this Agreement.

Article I, Recognition

Delete Article I in its entirety and replace with the following:

The Employer recognizes the Union as the sole and exclusive bargaining agent for the purposes of establishing salaries, wages, hours and other conditions of employment for the following classes of employees: All regular full and part-time employees of the City of New Bedford including those Professional Employees listed in Attachment D. The term "Professional Employee" as used herein, either in singular or plural form, shall have the same definition as said work or term is given under the provisions of Chapter 150E of Massachusetts General Laws, but excluding Uniformed Officers, Firefighters, Emergency Medical Technicians (EMT's), emergency employees or temporary employees with less than thirty (30) weeks of service or twelve hundred (1200) hours in the aggregate, employees of the New Bedford School Department, persons employed under certain federally funded programs, such as (but not necessarily limited to) Community Development Program and such other programs or positions as may by law be excluded from the provisions of Article II of this contract, Department Heads, and other employees identified as belonging to Unit B or Unit C.

The term "part-time" employees include regular employees of the City who are employed on a regular part-time basis having a minimum of twenty (20) working hours per week.

Article II, Check-Off of Union Dues

Amend by deleting title and substituting it with the following:

"Article II – UNION FEES, DUES AND ASSESSMENTS"

Delete the first paragraph and replace it with the following:

"The City shall bi-weekly deduct the employee's share of health insurance and life insurance premiums, union dues, agency fees, dental insurance and any fees or assessments from the earned wages of each employee in such amount as determined by the Union provided that no such deduction shall be made from any employee's wages except when authorized by the employee on an appropriate form, a copy of which must have been submitted to the City. At least two (2) weeks' notice of change in any of the above deductions shall be given to the City. When a month contains three pay periods, no deductions shall be taken for the third pay period."

Article III, Grievance and Arbitration Procedure

Amend Step 3 by adding the following paragraph after paragraph one:

"The Union's failure to meet any time limit or extension to a time limit set forth in this agreement shall render the grievance ineligible for further processing or non-arbitrable and the Employer's response shall be final."

Article IV, Seniority

Section 1 - no change.

Section 2 – amend as follows:

When, at any time, an opening for promotional advancement occurs within the department, the department shall post a notice for employees of said opening (with a copy to the steward) at least five (5) working days and the employees within that classification in the department, or division within the department shall be given the opportunity to bid with a copy of the list to the President within two (2) business days after bid closes.

Section 3 – former section 5 with no changes:

When an Appointing Authority makes a permanent or provisional appointment under Civil Service to fill a vacancy, the assignment of the newly appointed employee shall be made only after the vacancy has been posted for five (5) working days and the employees within that classification in the department, or division with the department, have been given the opportunity to bid by seniority. Nothing herein shall be construed to limit the Department Head from making temporary or lateral transfers of employees within the classification. No lateral transfer of an employee on a permanent basis shall be permitted which serves to defeat the purpose of this provision.

Section 4 – (former section 3) amend as follows:

In all cases in which a vacancy exists in a department (except in positions where special training, experience or education is required), the principle of seniority shall govern

where ability, dependability, work history and performance, education and training related to the vacant position and capacity (physical or otherwise) to perform the duties are adequate to meet such job requirements and are equal, provided they do not conflict with the requirements and best interest of the City; provided further that the length of time an employee has held a special license as an employee of the City shall be a factor in determining the capacity of an employee to perform the duties of Motor Equipment Operator or other position which requires such special license.

Section 5 (former section 4) - no change.

Section 6 – no change.

Section 7 – no change.

Section 8. For purposes of this Article, the terms "provisional employee", "permanent employee", "temporary employee, "tenured employee", and "emergency appointment" shall be defined according to their meaning under G.L. c. 31. It is also the intention of the parties that the provisions of this Article should read to conform to the requirements of M.G.L. c. 31.

Employees shall be selected for layoff in each job classification in each Department according to the following order:

- 1. Emergency appointments, at the discretion of the Appointing Authority;
- 2. Temporary employees with less than twelve (12) months of service in the department, at the discretion of the Appointing Authority;
- 3. Provisional employees with less than twelve (12) months of service in the department, at the discretion of the Appointing Authority;
- 4. Temporary employees with more than twelve (12) months of service in the department, in inverse order of length of service in the position;
- 5. Provisional employees with more than twelve (12) months of service in the department, in inverse order of length of service in the position;
- 6. Permanent employees in accordance with the provisions of M.G.L. c. 31.

An employee designated for layoff who is permanent in the job classification from which he/she is to be laid off may exercise the consent to be demoted pursuant to G.L. c. 31, section 39. An employee who separates from service within the department due to layoff, and who has at least twelve (12) months of service in the department may exercise the following recall rights:

- a. If the employee is a permanent Civil Service employee, he/she shall have recall rights accorded by G.L. c. 31.
- b. Subject to the rights of permanent Civil Service employees, if the employee is a non-permanent Civil Service employee then he/she shall be notified by first class mail or email, of vacancies in his/her job classification in his/her department and prior to

filling said vacancies with any other person, the department shall offer the position to qualified responding employees according to their length of service within the department.

c. Only an employee who has notified his/her department in writing of his/her interest in recall prior to his/her layoff and who had included a mailing address or email address and any changes thereto shall be entitled to notice of vacancies. To be eligible for recall, an employee must respond affirmatively in writing to his/her department within seventeen (17) calendar days of the postmarked date of the notice, or fourteen (14) calendar days from date of email, whichever comes first. The above recall rights for non-permanent Civil Service employees shall run for two years from date of layoff.

Article VII, Union Representatives

Amend the third paragraph by adding "No more than two Union officers" and deleting "The above" so it reads as follows:

"No more than two Union officers shall be granted reasonable time off during working hours to investigate and settle grievances arising under the provisions of this Agreement."

Amend the fourth paragraph, first sentence by adding "no more than two (2)" after attending and "per year" after bodies so it reads as follows:

"During the term of this Agreement, as many as four (4) employees who are union stewards or union officials or elected delegates shall be granted time off, without loss of pay, at any time for the purpose of attending no more than two (2) meetings of State or national bodies per year with which the union is affiliated. No more than two (2) employees from one (1) department may be permitted to attend such meetings. Employees may be granted leave without pay for no more than three (3) conventions or meetings per calendar year."

Delete the last paragraph in its entirety.

Article XI, Sick Leave

Amend Section 11, paragraph A by adding "(for City of New Bedford employees who are members of Local 851 Unit A and Unit B)" to the first sentence so it reads as follows:

A. Establishment

A Sick Leave Bank (for City of New Bedford employees who are members of Local 851 Unit A and Unit B) shall be established for the purpose of making additional sick leave days available to employees who are not "Sick Leave Abusers", i.e., have never received a warning for excessive absenteeism, have

exhausted their entire sick leave accumulation through prolonged illness and who have serious illness or injury.

Article XVI, Compensation Plan

7/1/17 - 1.5% and 1% (2.5% total); eliminate pay grades 1 and 2 and step 1 1/1/18 - 1% 7/1/18 - 1.5%

See attached schedules A1-A3

Signing bonus in the amount of \$500.00 for each bargaining unit member on payroll upon date of ratification.

Article XXVIII, Miscellaneous

Insert the following two paragraphs at the end of Article XXVIII:

"The parties agree that Global Position System (GPS) may be activated in City vehicles assigned to employees. Prior to the GPS being activated in a department the City will notify the Union as to the date of activation. The ability to view the location of City vehicles through the Global Positioning System will be available only to City Employees performing their ordinary job functions for the City. The ability to view the location of City vehicles through the Global Positioning System will be limited to offices of the departments to whom said vehicles are assigned and the Union will be notified of the location where the City vehicles may be viewed within the department. The City will not impose discipline against any members of the Union based solely upon information obtained from the Global Positioning System. Notwithstanding the previous sentence, information obtained from the Global Positioning System may result in the dispatch of a field inspector and, if deemed appropriate, discipline may result from information obtained from said inspection."

"Employees may be temporarily assigned to light duty in accordance with Attachment B." (attached).

Article XXIX, Protection

Delete the fourth and last paragraphs.

Article XXX, Joint Labor Management Committee

Amend as follows:

Section 1. In order to provide a means for continuing communications between the parties and for promoting a climate of constructive employee relations, a City-wide Labor-Management Committee shall be established which shall consist of no more than

three (3) representatives designated by the Employer and no more than three (3) representatives designated by the Union. Either side may invite additional members to attend meetings based on the topic of the meeting.

Section 2. The Committee shall meet within thirty (30) calendar days from ratification of this agreement and regularly thereafter. Such meetings shall not be for the purpose of discussing pending grievances. The topics discussed shall relate to the general application of this Agreement and to other matters of mutual concern, including improvement of employer/employee relations, health and safety, improvement of productivity, departmental training, trade and other allowances and clothing requirements.

Section 3. The Committee shall report their finding to the Mayor or his designee and to the Union for impact bargaining when necessary.

Article XXXI, Residency

Amend Article XXXI as follows:

Section 1. Every person first employed by the City of New Bedford in the bargaining unit, regardless of status, on or after September 1, 1978 shall be a resident of the City of New Bedford. An employee subject to this residency policy who has completed three (3) full years (36 months) of full or equivalent part-time service with the City of New Bedford may reside in the following towns: Dartmouth, Fairhaven, Acushnet, Freetown, Westport, Lakeville, Rochester and Mattapoisett.

Section 2.

Notwithstanding the previous section, every person hired by the City, into the bargaining unit, on or after the signing of this agreement (DATE OF SIGNING TO BE INSERTED INTO CONTRACT) shall remain a resident of New Bedford as a condition of continued employment.

- 1. Delete all references to paramedic conditions of employment as a result of their transfer to a separate bargaining unit.
- 2. During the 2019 Fiscal Year, the City will conduct a study to evaluate the wage range for each AFSCME position and to evaluate the AFSCME wage schedule.

Article XXXVI, Term and Effect

Amend Article XXXVI, Term and Effect of Agreement as follows:

"This Agreement shall be in full force and effect for the term beginning the first day of July 2016 and ending the thirtieth day of June 2019. It shall continue in

effect from year to year thereafter unless either party shall notify the other in writing at least sixty (60) days prior to the end of the term, or at least sixty (60) days prior to the end of any subsequent yearly period, that it desires to modify this Agreement. In the event that such notice is given, negotiations shall begin not later than thirty (30) days prior to the end of the yearly term then in effect; this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect during the period of negotiations and until notice of termination of this Agreement is provided to the other party in the manner set forth in the following paragraph:

In the event that either party desires to terminate the Agreement, written notice must be given the other party not less than ten (10) days prior to the desired termination date, which date shall not be before the end of the last completed yearly term of this Agreement.

In the event that any Article or Provision of this Agreement conflicts with the provisions of any statute or law of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, the latter shall prevail unless otherwise provided in Chapter 150E.

In the event that any Article or Provision of this Agreement conflicts with the provisions of any ordinance, department rule or regulations, or executive order of the City of New Bedford, said Article or Provision of this Agreement shall be given effect during the term of this Agreement.

In every instance in which a particular condition of employment is not specifically dealt with and covered by this Agreement, the ordinance, rule, regulation, practice or custom governing or effective with regard to said condition of employment as of the date of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect. Should any provision of this Agreement be found to be in violation of any Federal or State law, or Civil Service Rule by a court of competent jurisdiction, all other provisions of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect for the duration of this Agreement."

Signed this ##day of Jecen	nber, 2017.
AFSCME, Local 851, Council 93	City of New Bedford
Malleyn	
Moe Vezina, President Local 851	Jonathan F Mitchell, Mayor
Dru Billing	Have M. Friedman
Bruce Bettencourt, Vice-President	Jane M. Friedman, First Assistant City Solicitor
Karen Hat haway	Mikaela A. Mohermoth
Karen Hathaway, Coordinator AF&CME	Mikaela A. McDermott, City Solicitor

ATTACHMENT A-1

AFSCME SALARY SCHEDULE (1.5% + 1% = 2.5%)

JULY 1, 2017

GRADE	1	2	3	4	5	6
3	\$13.57	\$14.34	\$15.12	\$15.93	\$16.71	\$17.86
4	\$13.85	\$14.67	\$15.52	\$16.33	\$17.16	\$18.33
5	\$14.18	\$15.07	\$15.93	\$16.84	\$17.68	\$18.95
6	\$14.63	\$15.55	\$16.45	\$17.36	\$18.31	\$19.60
7	\$15.08	\$16.09	\$17.06	\$18.04	\$19.04	\$20.41
8	\$15.64	\$16.68	\$17.73	\$18.79	\$19.82	\$21.31
9	\$16.29	\$17.38	\$18.54	\$19.64	\$20.77	\$22.35
10	\$16.99	\$18.21	\$19.44	\$20.64	\$21.89	\$23.58
11	\$17.80	\$19.14	\$20.45	\$21.79	\$23.10	\$24.91
12	\$18.76	\$20.19	\$21.63	\$23.08	\$24.53	\$26.51

ATTACHMENT A-2

AFSCME SALARY SCHEDULE (1.0%)

JANUARY 1, 2018

GRADE	1	2	3	4	5	6
3	\$13.71	\$14.48	\$15.27	\$16.09	\$16.88	\$18.04
4	\$13.99	\$14.82	\$15.68	\$16.49	\$17.33	\$18.51
5	\$14.32	\$15.22	\$16.09	\$17.01	\$17.86	\$19.14
6	\$14.78	\$15.71	\$16.61	\$17.53	\$18.49	\$19.80
7	\$15.23	\$16.25	\$17.23	\$18.22	\$19.23	\$20.61
8	\$15.80	\$16.85	\$17.91	\$18.98	\$20.02	\$21.52
9	\$16.45	\$17.55	\$18.73	\$19.84	\$20.98	\$22.57
10	\$17.16	\$18.39	\$19.63	\$20.85	\$22.11	\$23.82
11	\$17.98	\$19.33	\$20.65	\$22.01	\$23.33	\$25.16
12	\$18.95	\$20.39	\$21.85	\$23.31	\$24.78	\$26.78

ATTACHMENT A-3

AFSCME SALARY SCHEDULE (1.5%)

JULY 1, 2018

GRADE	1	2	3	4	5	6
3	\$13.92	\$14.70	\$15.50	\$16.33	\$17.13	\$18.31
4	\$14.20	\$15.04	\$15.92	\$16.74	\$17.59	\$18.79
5	\$14.53	\$15.45	\$16.33	\$17.27	\$18.13	\$19.43
6	\$15.00	\$15.95	\$16.86	\$17.79	\$18.77	\$20.10
7	\$15.46	\$16.49	\$17.49	\$18.49	\$19.52	\$20.92
8	\$16.04	\$17.10	\$18.18	\$19.26	\$20.32	\$21.84
9	\$16.70	\$17.81	\$19.01	\$20.14	\$21.29	\$22.91
10	\$17.42	\$18.67	\$19.92	\$21.16	\$22.44	\$24.18
11	\$18.25	\$19.62	\$20.96	\$22.34	\$23.68	\$25.54
12	\$19.23	\$20.70	\$22.18	\$23.66	\$25.15	\$27.18

ATTACHMENT B

TEMPORARY LIGHT DUTY

I. PURPOSE

It is the purpose of this policy to establish the authority for temporary light-duty assignments and procedures for granting temporary light duty to eligible employees.

II. POLICY

Temporary light-duty assignments, when available, are for employees who, because of injury or illness, are temporarily unable to perform their regular assignments. Therefore, it is the policy of the City of New Bedford that eligible personnel be given a reasonable opportunity to work in temporary light-duty assignments where available and consistent with this policy. This policy in no way affects the privileges of employees under the Family and Medical Leave Act or the American with Disabilities Act or other federal or state law.

III. DEFINITIONS

<u>Eligible Personnel</u>: For purposes of this policy, any full-time employee of the City suffering from medically certified illness or injury requiring treatment of a licensed health-care provider and who, because of injury or illness is temporarily unable to perform his/her regular assignment but is capable of performing alternative assignments is eligible for light duty in his/her department.

IV. PROCEDURES

A. GENERAL PROVISIONS

- 1. Light duty assignments are granted at the discretion of the of the department head after consultation with the Personnel Director. Employees on work related illness or injury shall be given preference for light duty assignments.
- 2. Decisions on temporary light-duty assignments shall be made based upon the availability of an appropriate assignment given the employee's knowledge, skills and abilities; availability of light-duty assignments; and the physical limitations imposed on the employee that includes an assessment of the nature and probable duration of the illness or injury, prognosis for recovery, nature of work restrictions and familiarity with the light-duty assignment and the fact that the employee can physically assume the duties involved as certified by a physician designated by the City at no cost to the employee.

- 3. Department heads shall notify the Personnel Department and the Union when a decision is made to assign light duty to an employee.
- 4. Assignment to temporary light duty shall not affect an employee's pay classification, pay increases, promotions, retirement benefits or other employee benefits.
- 5. No existing position shall be designated or utilized exclusively for personnel on temporary light duty.
- 6. Light duty assignments are strictly temporary and normally should not exceed six months in duration. After six months, employees on temporary light duty who are not capable of returning to their original duty assignment may request an extension of temporary light duty, with supporting documentation, to the department head.
- 7. Light-duty assignments shall not be made for disciplinary purposes.
- 8. Employees may not refuse temporary light-duty assignments that are supported by and consistent with the recommendations of a physician or certified health-care provider appointed by the City.

Memorandum of Agreement Between the City of New Bedford

And

American Federation of State, County and Municipal Employees

AFL-CIO State Council 93 Local 851 Unit A

This Agreement between the City of New Bedford, hereinafter referred to as the "City", and the American Federation of State, County and Municipal Employees, AFL-CIO, State Council 93, Local 851, Unit A, hereinafter referred to as the "Union", collectively referred to as the "Parties". The Parties agree that their 7/01/2016 - 6/30/2019 collective bargaining agreement (CBA) shall remain in effect with the following changes:

1. Article XXXIV Term and Effect of Agreement

Amend the term in Article XXXIV as follows:

3 year term – July 1, 2019 through June 30, 2022

2. Article XVI Classification and Compensation Plan

Amend Article XVI, Section 1 by striking the section in its entirety and inserting the following in place thereof:

SECTION 1.

The pay scheduled as of July 1, 2019 shall be amended as follows:

July 1, 2019 – 2%

July 1, 2020 - 1%

July 1, 2021 – 1%

See attached schedules A-1 through A-4

To qualify for retroactive pay, pursuant to this agreement, employees shall be on the payroll on [insert the effective date of the agreement] or have left service due to retirement.

Amend Article XVI, Section 2 to reflect the grade schedule established in the reclassification study.

Amend Article XVI, Section 3 by inserting the following sentence at the end:

Notwithstanding the previous sentence, an employee who accepts an original appointment, who is currently employed in another position within the City, shall be placed at the step closest to the hourly wage the employee was earning in their prior position and this placement shall not trigger a step increase for other employees in the position, as described in Section 8 of this Article.

Amend Article XVI, Section 4 by striking the section in its entirety and inserting the following in place thereof:

SECTION 4.

Full-time employees shall be granted step rate increases upon completion of each year of creditable service effective on the first day of the weekly payroll period in which such service is completed; provided that no step rate increase shall be granted if the Department Head of an employee eligible for such step rate increase recommends to the Mayor, in writing with reasons therefore and with a copy to the employee, that a step rate increase is not warranted or justified upon review of the employee's performance. Notwithstanding the previous sentence, eligible employees who are on the payroll effective July 1, 2019, shall be granted step rate increases upon completion of each year of creditable service, beginning July 1, 2019, effective on the first day of the weekly payroll period in which such service is completed. The decision of the Mayor to grant or disapprove a step rate increase shall be subject to the grievance and arbitration procedure. Creditable service shall be based on a period of fifty-two (52) weeks of work.

An employee who is absent on industrial accident leave, and who returns to work within one year, shall be entitled to receive their next step increase upon their return to work, upon completion of a satisfactory employee performance evaluation, and their absence of not more than one year shall not affect the date of future step raises that the employee may be entitled to. An employee who is absent on industrial accident leave for more than one year shall be entitled to their next step raise once they have returned to work and have worked for twelve months since their last step increase, and upon completion of a satisfactory employee performance evaluation. The step increase for an employee who is absent on industrial accident leave for more than one year shall result in a new date for future step raises.

Amend Article XVI, Section 10 by striking the section in its entirety and renumbering remaining sections accordingly.

3. Emergency Employees

Exclude "emergency employees" in the recognition section and strike references to "emergency employees" from remainder of agreement.

4. Article I Recognition

Amend Article I Recognition, as follows:

The Employer recognizes the Union as the sole and exclusive bargaining agent for the purposes of establishing salaries, wages, hours and other conditions of employment for the following classes of employees: All regular full and part-time employees of the City of New Bedford including those Professional Employees listed in Attachment D. The term "Professional Employee" as used herein, either in singular or plural form, shall have the same definition as said work or term is given under the provisions of Chapter 150E of Massachusetts General Laws, but excluding Uniformed Officers, Firefighters, Emergency Medical Technicians (EMT's), emergency employees, temporary employees who have worked for the City for less than ninety (90) days and less than seven hundred and twenty (720) hours, employees of the New Bedford School Department, persons employed under certain federally funded programs, such as (but not necessarily limited to) Community Development Program and such other programs or positions as may by law be excluded from the provisions of Article II of this contract, Department Heads, and other employees identified as belonging to Unit B or Unit C.

The term "part-time" employees include regular employees of the City who are employed on a regular part-time basis having a minimum of twenty (20) working hours per week.

5. Article II Union Fees, Dues and Assessments

Amend Article II Union Fees, Dues and Subscriptions to reflect voluntary agency service fee.

6. Article VII Union Representatives

Amend Article VII Union Representative by inserting the following at the end of the section:

The employer will provide the Union Steward the name, title and starting salary of any new employee hired into the bargaining unit.

The City agrees to allow one-half (1/2) hour to be allotted to the Union representative and the new employee, if the new employee so chooses, during which time the Union representative may discuss the Union with the employee.

7. Article XI Sick Leave

Amend Article XI Sick Leave, Section 1 by striking the first paragraph of the section and inserting the following in place thereof:

SECTION 1.

Each employee, except temporary employees with less than ninety (90) days and seven hundred and twenty (720) hours of service shall be credited with sick leave with pay at the rate of one and one-quarter (1½) days for each month of service starting after the date of this Agreement. Sick leave credit will begin the first (1st) day of the month following the month in which a new employee is employed. Sick leave may be accumulated up to one hundred eighty (180) days. Any accumulations, which present employees have at the effective date of this Agreement, shall remain in effect.

Amend Article XI Sick Leave, Section 8 by striking the section in its entirety and renumbering the remaining sections.

Amend Article XI Sick Leave, Section 11C to increase additional days that may be granted by the Sick Leave Bank from twenty (20) days to thirty (30) days.

Amend Article XI Sick Leave, Section 12 as follows:

SECTION 12.

Employees may use no more than five (5) sick days per calendar year to care for a mother, father, spouse, child, adopted child, child of spouse, or grandparent of the employee.

8. Article XIII Personal Leave

Amend Article XIII Personal Leave as follows:

Personal leave may be requested in units of not less than three (3) hours, and not more than one (1) working day. Notwithstanding the previous sentence, if the position does not require a minimum overtime assignment for replacement, personal leave may be requested in units of not less than two (2) hours and not more than (1) working day.

9. Article XIV Maternity

Amend Article XIV Maternity Leave by striking the article in its entirety and inserting the following in place thereof:

ARTICLE XIV MATERNITY/PATERNITY LEAVE

The granting of leaves of absence for maternity/paternity reasons shall be subject to applicable state and federal laws.

10. Article XVIII Holidays

Amend Article XVIII, Section 1 by striking the following:

December 26, 1997 shall be a paid holiday for this year only.

Amend Article XVIII, Section 2 by striking the article in its entirety and inserting the following in place thereof:

SECTION 2.

Employees, who have been employed by the City for thirty (30) days or more shall receive holiday pay at their regular straight time hourly rate for each of said holidays based on their regular hours per day. Notwithstanding the previous sentence, temporary or intermittent employees who have worked for the City for less than ninety (90) days and less than seven hundred and twenty (720) hours shall not be entitled to holiday pay.

11. <u>Article XXXII Emergency Telecommunications Dispatchers (E-911Telecommunications)</u>

Amend Article XXXII by inserting the following at the end of Section 1:

Effective [insert the effective date of the agreement], Emergency Telecommunications Dispatchers shall work a forty (40) hour workweek, inclusive of a one-half hour paid meal period, during which the employee shall remain on the premises. The meal period schedule shall be developed by the Chief of Police or his designee.

12. Certifications/License

Amend Article XXVIII Miscellaneous Article by inserting the following after the first paragraph:

1. Any employee who fails to maintain a certification or license, which is a requirement of their job, shall be subject to discharge. In the event the employee can demonstrate to his

or her appointing authority that his or her failure to maintain a certification or license was beyond the employee's control, and that the failure to maintain a required certification or license was not the result of inaction or delay on the part of the employee, the City may grant a reasonable amount of time for the employee to remedy the failure to maintain the certification of license, which is a condition of employment. The City's decision whether to provide an employee time to remedy the failure to maintain a license or certification shall be final and shall not be subject to grievance or appeal.

Amend Article XXVIII Miscellaneous Article by inserting subsection numbers to separate the various topics contained in the section.

13. Drug Testing

Amend Table of Contents and Article XXXIII Drug Testing, section 1 by inserting a reference to "Attachment E" in place of "(see attached)".

14. Uniforms and Tools

The parties agree to utilize the Joint Labor Management Committee, as set forth in Article XXX, to discuss uniforms and tools with an initial meeting to occur within thirty (30) days of [insert the effective date of the agreement].

15. Gender neutrality

Change language throughout contract to be gender neutral.

16. New Certifications

Additional certifications are being considered, which may affect existing members employed by the Department of Public Infrastructure and the Department of Facilities and Fleet Management. The affected positions will be sent for review by the consultant performing the reclassification study to determine if classification of the position would be affected by the proposed certifications. Prior to the implementation of new certifications for existing employees, the parties shall meet to discuss issues pertaining to implementation.

17. <u>HazMat</u>

The parties agree to discuss hazardous materials pay.

This Memorandum of Agreement is subject to ratification by the Union membership, approval of the Mayor of New Bedford, and funding of the incremental cost items by the New Bedford City Council.

AFSCME, council 93, Local 851 Unit B:	City of New Bedford:
Kimberly Sylvia, Staff Representative	Jonathan F. Mitchell, Mayor
Maus / St	Mikaela A. McDermott, City Solicitor
	Jane M. Friedman, First Asst. City Solicitor

Signed this ____ day of November 2019

以 · 引动体				Current	Pro	posed S	tar	ting Sala	ary			ingsty?		25 YA	
	1	2	3	4		5		6		7	8		9		10
		3%	3%	3%		3.5%		3.5%		4%	4%		5%		5%
Α	\$ 15.75	\$ 16.22	\$ 16.71	\$ 17.21	\$	17.81	\$	18.43	\$	19.17	\$ 19.94	\$	20.94	\$	21.99
В	\$ 15.95	\$ 16.43	\$ 16.92	\$ 17.43	\$	18.04	\$	18.67	\$	19.42	\$ 20.20	\$	21.21	\$	22.27
C	\$ 16.51	\$ 17.01	\$ 17.52	\$ 18.05	\$	18.68	\$	19.33	\$	20.10	\$ 20.90	\$	21.95	\$	23.05
D	\$ 16.67	\$ 17.17	\$ 17.69	\$ 18.22	\$	18.86	\$	19.52	\$	20.30	\$ 21.11	\$	22.17	\$	23.28
E	\$ 16.84	\$ 17.35	\$ 17.87	\$ 18.41	\$	19.05	\$	19.72	\$	20.51	\$ 21.33	\$	22.40	\$	23.52
F	\$ 17.17	\$ 17.69	\$ 18.22	\$ 18.77	\$	19.43	\$	20.11	\$	20.91	\$ 21.75	\$	22.84	\$	23.98
G	\$ 18.46	\$ 19.01	\$ 19.58	\$ 20.17	\$	20.88	\$	21.61	\$	22.47	\$ 23.37	\$	24.54	\$	25.77
Н	\$ 18.92	\$ 19.49	\$ 20.07	\$ 20.67	\$	21.39	\$	22.14	\$	23.03	\$ 23.95	\$	25.15	\$	26.41
1	\$ 19.40	\$ 19.98	\$ 20.58	\$ 21.20	\$	21.94	\$	22.71	\$	23.62	\$ 24.56	\$	25.79	\$	27.08
J	\$ 19.88	\$ 20.48	\$ 21.09	\$ 21.72	\$	22.48	\$	23.27	\$	24.20	\$ 25.17	\$	26.43	\$	27.75
K	\$ 20.38	\$ 20.99	\$ 21.62	\$ 22.27	\$	23.05	\$	23.86	\$	24.81	\$ 25.80	\$	27.09	\$	28.44



		Ty-		Cu	rrer	nt Propo	sed	with 29	6 C(DLA - Jul	y 1,	2019						
	1		2	3		4		5		6		7		8		9	-	10
Α	\$ 16.07	\$	16.54	\$ 17.04	\$	17.55	\$	18.17	\$	18.80	\$	19.55	\$	20.34	Ś	21.36	Ś	22.43
В								18.40					-		•		•	
C	\$ 16.84	\$	17.35	\$ 17.87	\$	18.41	\$	19.05	\$	19.72	\$	20.50	\$	21.32	\$	22.39	\$	23.51
D	\$ 17.00	\$	17.51	\$ 18.04	\$	18.58	\$	19.24	\$	19.91	\$	20.71	\$	21.53	\$	22.61	\$	23.75
E								19.43									•	
F								19.82					-		-		•	
G	\$ 18.83	\$	19.39	\$ 19.97	\$	20.57	\$	21.30	\$	22.04	\$	22.92	\$	23.84	\$	25.03	\$	26.29
H	\$ 19.30	\$	19.88	\$ 20.47	\$	21.08	\$	21.82	\$	22.58	\$	23.49	\$	24.43	\$	25.65	\$	26.94
1								22.38							-		•	
1								22.93							-			
K	\$ 20.79	\$	21.41	\$ 22.05	\$	22.72	\$	23.51	\$	24.34	\$	25.31	\$	26.32	\$	27.63	\$	29.01



		de El Cons es, postansi	Cu	rrei	nt Propo	sed	with 19	6 C	DLA - Ju	y 1,	2020					
	1	2	3		4		5		6		7	-	8	9		10
A	\$ 16.23	\$ 16.71	\$ 17.21	\$	17.73	\$	18.35	\$	18.99	\$	19.75	\$	20.54	\$ 21.57	Ś	22.65
В							18.58									
C	\$ 17.01	\$ 17.52	\$ 18.05	\$	18.59	\$	19.24	\$	19.92	\$	20.71	\$	21.53	\$ 22.61	\$	23.75
D							19.43									
E							19.62									
F							20.02									
G	\$ 19.02	\$ 19.58	\$ 20.17	\$	20.78	\$	21.51	\$	22.26	\$	23.15	\$	24.08	\$ 25.28	\$	26.55
H	\$ 19.49	\$ 20.08	\$ 20.67	\$	21.29	\$	22.04	\$	22.81	\$	23.72	\$	24.67	\$ 25.91	\$	27.21
1							22.60									
J	\$ 20.48	\$ 21.10	\$ 21.73	\$	22.37	\$	23.16	\$	23.98	\$	24.93	\$	25.93	\$ 27.23	\$	28.59
K	\$ 21.00	\$ 21.62	\$ 22.27	\$	22.95	\$	23.75	\$	24.58	\$	25.56	\$	26.58	\$ 27.91	\$	29.30



		***************************************	Cu	rrer	nt Propo	sed	with 19	% C(DLA - Jul	y 1	2021				
_	1	2	3		4		5		6		7	8	9		10
A	\$ 16.39	\$ 16.88	\$ 17.38	\$	17.91	\$	18.53	\$	19.18	\$	19.95	\$ 20.75	\$ 21.79	\$	22.88
В	\$ 16.59	\$ 17.10	\$ 17.60	\$	18.14	\$	18.77	\$	19.42	\$	20.21	\$ 21.02	\$ 22.07	\$	23.18
С	\$ 17.18	\$ 17.70	\$ 18.23	\$	18.78	\$	19.43	\$	20.12	\$	20.92	\$ 21.75	\$ 22.84	\$	23.99
D	\$ 17.34	\$ 17.87	\$ 18.40	\$	18.96	\$	19.62	\$	20.31	\$	21.13	\$ 21.97	\$ 23.07	\$	24.23
E	\$ 17.52	\$ 18.06	\$ 18.59	\$	19.16	\$	19.82	\$	20.51	\$	21.34	\$ 22.20	\$ 23.31	\$	24.47
F	\$ 17.87	\$ 18.40	\$ 18.96	\$	19.53	\$	20.22	\$	20.93	\$	21.76	\$ 22.63	\$ 23.77	\$	24.95
G	\$ 19.21	\$ 19.78	\$ 20.37	\$	20.99	\$	21.73	\$	22.48	\$	23.38	\$ 24.32	\$ 25.53	\$	26.82
Н	\$ 19.68	\$ 20.28	\$ 20.88	\$	21.50	\$	22.26	\$	23.04	\$	23.96	\$ 24.92	\$ 26.17	\$	27.48
1	\$ 20.19	\$ 20.79	\$ 21.41	\$	22.06	\$	22.83	\$	23.62	\$	24.57	\$ 25.55	\$ 26.84	\$	28.18
J		21.31												•	
K	\$ 21.21	\$ 21.84	\$ 22.49	\$	23.18	\$	23.99	\$	24.83	\$	25.82	\$ 26.85	\$ 28.19	\$	29.59



Attachment D

Position Title	New Grade
Supervisors and Advanced Technical Staff	
Collections System Foreman	K
Parks Foreperson	
Sewage Disposal System Mainenance Foreperson	12
Street & Sewer Construction Foreperson	
Water Construction Foreperson	
Electrician	J
Project Administrator	
Working Foreperson Diesel Engine Repairperson	
Working Foreperson	
Animal Control Officer	Î
Local Building Inspector	
Project Coordinator	
Senior Plumbing & Gas Fitting Inspector	
Supervising Laboratory Technician	
Water Treatment Plant Operator	
Airport Technician	Н
Diesel Engine Repairperson	
Junior Civil Engineer	
Service Writer	
Senior Zoo Caretaker	
Treatment Chemist	
Carpenter	G
Computer Operations Support Specialist	
Emergency Telecommunications Dispatcher	
Greenhouse Gardener	
Mason	
Plumber	
Plumbing & Gas Fitting Inspector	
Sanitarian	
Sewage Plant Repairperson	
Special Motor Equipment Operator 1A	
Veterinary Technician	
Welder	
Administrative and Technical Staff	DOCOTOR SERVICE
Airport Maintenance Person	F
Building Maintenance Person	
Computer Operator	



Position Title	New Grade
Cross Connection Coordinator	New Grade
Special Motor Equipment Operator	•
Zoo Caretaker	
C-1-5-f	
Code Enforcement Inspector	E
Environmental Enforcement Inspector	
Hoisting Equipment Operator	
Laboratory Technician	
Library Assistant	
Metal Body Worker Spray Painter	
Motor Equipment Repairperson	
Office Assistant III	
Storekeeper	4
Veteran's Benefit Invesigator	
Water Machinery Repairperson	
Water Works Craftsperson	
Bookmobile Driver/Clerk	D
Gardener	
Heavy Motor Equipment Operator	
Motor Equipment Maintenance Person	
Parking Enforcement Officer	
Pipefitter	
Office Assistant II	
Financial Assistant II	
Sewage Plant Maintenance Person	
Signal Maintainer	
Water Meter Repairperson	
Water Works Utility Person	
Financial Assistant I	С
Data Entry Assistant	
Parking Meter Repairperson	
Office Assistant I	В
Maintenance Person	
Watchperson	
Water System Maintenance Worker	
Building Custodian	Α
Cashier	
Cemetery Maintenance Worker	
Garage Attendant	
Motor Equipment Operator	
Park Maintenance Worker	
Van Driver	
and 1875年1976年在1970年中,1970年1970年1970年1970年1970年1970年1970年1970年	The state of the state of



	10.00			Current	Pro	posed S	tar	ting Sala	ary			and all	
	1	2	3	4		5		6		7	8	9	10
		3%	3%	3%		3.5%		3.5%		4%	4%	5%	5%
Α	\$ 15.75	\$ 16.22	\$ 16.71	\$ 17.21	\$	17.81	\$	18.43	\$	19.17	\$ 19.94	\$ 20.94	\$ 21.99
В	\$ 15.95	\$ 16.43	\$ 16.92	\$ 17.43	\$	18.04	\$	18.67	\$	19.42	\$ 20.20	\$ 21.21	\$ 22.27
C	\$ 16.51	\$ 17.01	\$ 17.52	\$ 18.05	\$	18.68	\$	19.33	\$	20.10	\$ 20.90	\$ 21.95	\$ 23.05
D	\$ 16.67	\$ 17.17	\$ 17.69	\$ 18.22	\$	18.86	\$	19.52	\$	20.30	\$ 21.11	\$ 22.17	\$ 23.28
E	\$ 16.84	\$ 17.35	\$ 17.87	\$ 18.41	\$	19.05	\$	19.72	\$	20.51	\$ 21.33	\$ 22.40	\$ 23.52
F	\$ 17.17	\$ 17.69	\$ 18.22	\$ 18.77	\$	19.43	\$	20.11	\$	20.91	\$ 21.75	\$ 22.84	\$ 23.98
G	\$ 18.46	\$ 19.01	\$ 19.58	\$ 20.17	\$	20.88	\$	21.61	\$	22.47	\$ 23.37	\$ 24.54	\$ 25.77
Н	\$ 18.92	\$ 19.49	\$ 20.07	\$ 20.67	\$	21.39	\$	22.14	\$	23.03	\$ 23.95	\$ 25.15	\$ 26.41
1	\$ 19.40	\$ 19.98	\$ 20.58	\$ 21.20	\$	21.94	\$	22.71	\$	23.62	\$ 24.56	\$ 25.79	\$ 27.08
j	\$ 19.88	\$ 20.48	\$ 21.09	\$ 21.72	\$	22.48	\$	23.27	\$	24.20	\$ 25.17	\$ 26.43	\$ 27.75
K	\$ 20.38	\$ 20.99	\$ 21.62	\$ 22.27	\$	23.05	\$	23.86	\$	24.81	\$ 25.80	\$ 27.09	\$ 28.44

			T'H			Cu	rrer	nt Propo	sed	with 29	6 C(DLA - Jul	y 1,	2019						
		1		2		3		4		5		6		7		8		9		10
Α	¢	16.07	¢	16 54	¢	17 04	¢	17 55	ċ	18.17	¢	18 80	¢	10 55	ċ	20.24	خ	21 26	ċ	22.42
В										18.40							-			
C	\$	16.84	\$	17.35	\$	17.87	\$	18.41	\$	19.05	\$	19.72	\$	20.50	\$	21.32	\$	22.39	\$	23.51
D	\$	17.00	\$	17.51	\$	18.04	\$	18.58	\$	19.24	\$	19.91	\$	20.71	\$	21.53	\$	22.61	\$	23.75
E	\$	17.18	\$	17.70	\$	18.23	\$	18.78	\$	19.43	\$	20.11	\$	20.92	\$	21.76	\$	22.85	\$	23.99
F	\$	17.51	\$	18.04	\$	18.58	\$	19.15	\$	19.82	\$	20.51	\$	21.33	\$	22.19	\$	23.30	\$	24.46
G	\$	18.83	\$	19.39	\$	19.97	\$	20.57	\$	21.30	\$	22.04	\$	22.92	\$	23.84	\$	25.03	\$	26.29
Н	\$	19.30	\$	19.88	\$	20.47	\$	21.08	\$	21.82	\$	22.58	\$	23.49	\$	24.43	\$	25.65	\$	26.94
1	\$	19.79	\$	20.38	\$	20.99	\$	21.62	\$	22.38	\$	23.16	\$	24.09	\$	25.05	\$	26.31	\$	27.62
J	\$	20.28	\$	20.89	\$	21.51	\$	22.15	\$	22.93	\$	23.74	\$	24.68	\$	25.67	\$	26.96	\$	28.31
K	\$	20.79	\$	21.41	\$	22.05	\$	22.72	\$	23.51	\$	24.34	\$	25.31	\$	26.32	\$	27.63	\$	29.01

		L. Person	Cu	rrer	nt Propo	sed	with 19	6 C(DLA - Jul	y 1,	2020	ijy.					
	1	2	3		4		5		6		7		8		9		10
Α	\$ 16.23	\$ 16.71	\$ 17.21	Ś	17.73	Ś	18.35	\$	18.99	Ś	19.75	Ś	20.54	Ś	21 57	\$	22 65
В							18.58									-	
C	\$ 17.01	\$ 17.52	\$ 18.05	\$	18.59	\$	19.24	\$	19.92	\$	20.71	\$	21.53	\$	22.61	\$	23.75
D	\$ 17.17	\$ 17.69	\$ 18.22	\$	18.77	\$	19.43	\$	20.11	\$	20.92	\$	21.75	\$	22.84	\$	23.99
E	\$ 17.35	\$ 17.88	\$ 18.41	\$	18.97	\$	19.62	\$	20.31	\$	21.13	\$	21.98	\$	23.08	\$	24.23
F	\$ 17.69	\$ 18.22	\$ 18.77	\$	19.34	\$	20.02	\$	20.72	\$	21.54	\$	22.41	\$	23.53	\$	24.70
G	\$ 19.02	\$ 19.58	\$ 20.17	\$	20.78	\$	21.51	\$	22.26	\$	23.15	\$	24.08	\$	25.28	\$	26.55
Н	\$ 19.49	\$ 20.08	\$ 20.67	\$	21.29	\$	22.04	\$	22.81	\$	23.72	\$	24.67	\$	25.91	\$	27.21
1	\$ 19.99	\$ 20.58	\$ 21.20	\$	21.84	\$	22.60	\$	23.39	\$	24.33	\$	25.30	\$	26.57	\$	27.90
J	\$ 20.48	\$ 21.10	\$ 21.73	\$	22.37	\$	23.16	\$	23.98	\$	24.93	\$	25.93	\$	27.23	\$	28.59
K	\$ 21.00	\$ 21.62	\$ 22.27	\$	22.95	\$	23.75	\$	24.58	\$	25.56	\$	26.58	\$	27.91	\$	29.30

)			Cu	rrer	t Propo	sed	with 19	6 C(DLA - Jul	y 1,	2021		TO			
	1	2	3		4		5		6		7	8		9		10
Α	\$ 16.39	\$ 16.88	\$ 17.38	Ś	17.91	Ś	18.53	Ś	19.18	\$	19.95	\$ 20.75	\$	21.79	\$	22.88
В							18.77								•	
C	\$ 17.18	\$ 17.70	\$ 18.23	\$	18.78	\$	19.43	\$	20.12	\$	20.92	\$ 21.75	\$	22.84	\$	23.99
D	\$ 17.34	\$ 17.87	\$ 18.40	\$	18.96	\$	19.62	\$	20.31	\$	21.13	\$ 21.97	\$	23.07	\$	24.23
E	\$ 17.52	\$ 18.06	\$ 18.59	\$	19.16	\$	19.82	\$	20.51	\$	21.34	\$ 22.20	\$	23.31	\$	24.47
F	\$ 17.87	\$ 18.40	\$ 18.96	\$	19.53	\$	20.22	\$	20.93	\$	21.76	\$ 22.63	\$	23.77	\$	24.95
G	\$ 19.21	\$ 19.78	\$ 20.37	\$	20.99	\$	21.73	\$	22.48	\$	23.38	\$ 24.32	\$	25.53	\$	26.82
Н	\$ 19.68	\$ 20.28	\$ 20.88	\$	21.50	\$	22.26	\$	23.04	\$	23.96	\$ 24.92	\$	26.17	\$	27.48
1	\$ 20.19	\$ 20.79	\$ 21.41	\$	22.06	\$	22.83	\$	23.62	\$	24.57	\$ 25.55	\$	26.84	\$	28.18
J	\$ 20.68	\$ 21.31	\$ 21.95	\$	22.59	\$	23.39	\$	24.22	\$	25.18	\$ 26.19	\$	27.50	\$	28.88
K	\$ 21.21	\$ 21.84	\$ 22.49	\$	23.18	\$	23.99	\$	24.83	\$	25.82	\$ 26.85	\$	28.19	\$	29.59

Attachment D

Position Title	New Grade
Supervisors and Advanced Technical Staff	
Collections System Foreman	К
Parks Foreperson	
Sewage Disposal System Mainenance Foreperson	
Street & Sewer Construction Foreperson	
Water Construction Foreperson	
·	
Electrician	J
Project Administrator	
Working Foreperson Diesel Engine Repairperson	
Working Foreperson	
Animal Control Officer	I
Local Building Inspector	
Project Coordinator	
Senior Plumbing & Gas Fitting Inspector	
Supervising Laboratory Technician	
Water Treatment Plant Operator	
Airport Technician	Н
Diesel Engine Repairperson	
Junior Civil Engineer	
Service Writer	
Senior Zoo Caretaker	
Treatment Chemist	
Carpenter	G
Computer Operations Support Specialist	
Emergency Telecommunications Dispatcher	
Greenhouse Gardener	
Mason	
Plumber	
Plumbing & Gas Fitting Inspector	
Sanitarian	
Sewage Plant Repairperson	
Special Motor Equipment Operator 1A	
Veterinary Technician	
Welder	
Administrative and Technical Staff	
Airport Maintenance Person	F
Building Maintenance Person	
Computer Operator	

Position Title	New Grade
Cross Connection Coordinator	
Special Motor Equipment Operator	
Zoo Caretaker	
Code Enforcement Inspector	E
Environmental Enforcement Inspector	
Hoisting Equipment Operator	
Laboratory Technician	
Library Assistant	
Metal Body Worker Spray Painter	
Motor Equipment Repairperson	
Office Assistant III	
Storekeeper	
Veteran's Benefit Invesigator	
Water Machinery Repairperson	
Water Works Craftsperson	
Bookmobile Driver/Clerk	D
Gardener	
Heavy Motor Equipment Operator	
Motor Equipment Maintenance Person	
Parking Enforcement Officer	
Pipefitter	
Office Assistant II	
Financial Assistant II	
Sewage Plant Maintenance Person	
Signal Maintainer	
Water Meter Repairperson	
Water Works Utility Person	
Financial Assistant I	С
Data Entry Assistant	
Parking Meter Repairperson	
Office Assistant I	В
Maintenance Person	
Watchperson	
Water System Maintenance Worker	
Building Custodian	А
Cashier	
Cemetery Maintenance Worker	
Garage Attendant	
Motor Equipment Operator	
Park Maintenance Worker	
Van Driver	